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Thursday, July 23, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.

Please be seated.  Does that work?

Good morning.  We are sitting this morning to hear the application by Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. for approval of distribution rates effective May 1, 2009 in Board matter EB-2008-0230.  My name is Cathy Spoel.  I am the presiding member today, and sitting with me is Pamela Nowina, one of the Board vice-chairs.

Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  My name is Sidlofsky, S-I-D-L-O-F-S-K-Y, counsel to Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc.

MR. SHEPHERD: Jay Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.

MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel, and with me are Khalil Viraney, the case manager, and Christie Clark.

MS. SPOEL:  Anyone else?  Thank you.

Mr. Sidlofsky, before we begin, I understand you -- here we are.  We have a list of witness panels here.  There are three witness panels, I understand?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.  We had hoped that that would give a bit of structure to the hearing and assist the Board.

MS. SPOEL:  Who are we hearing from first?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The first panel is on rate base.

MS. SPOEL:  Are there any other preliminary matters before we get started?

MS. SEBALJ:  No.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Mr. Sidlofsky, then, I guess we might as well start with the first witness panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Spoel.  I have a few preliminary comments, if I might, and then I would -- what I am proposing to do with each of the panels is take them through a very brief examination-in-chief, and then open them up for cross-examination.

MS. SPOEL:  Fine.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.
Opening Statement by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Spoel, Ms. Nowina, the applicant in this case is Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc.  I will be referring to them as Sudbury Hydro today.

Sudbury Hydro serves almost 47,000 electricity distribution customers in portions of the City of Greater Sudbury and the Municipality of West Nipissing.  Other consumers within the city are serviced by Hydro One Networks Inc.

Sudbury Hydro filed its application for 2009 distribution rates with the Board on December 22nd, 2008.  A number of updates were filed on January 9th of this year.

That extensive prefiled evidence was followed in March and May of this year by two rounds of responses to Board Staff, CCC, Schools and VECC interrogatories, and a technical conference and settlement conference in June.

In its most recent procedural order, the Board provided for a limited oral hearing focussing on specific issues.  This will allow for cross-examination of Sudbury Hydro representatives on certain of the issues set out on the issues list accompanying Procedural Order No. 6.

Those areas are item 1, rate base, issues 2.1 to 2.3; item 2, revenue requirement, issues 3.1, 3.2 and 3.5; item 3, cost of service, issues 4.1 to 4.4; item 4, cost of capital, issues 6.1 and 6.2; item 5, cost allocation, issues 7.1 and 7.2; and item 6, rate design, issues 8.1 to 8.4.



To assist the Board and the parties, Sudbury Hydro will be presenting three witness panels today.  Panel 1 will deal with the item 1 issues.  Panel 2 will deal with item 3 issues - that is, cost of service - as well as issues 3.1 and 3.2 of item 2.

Panel 3 will deal with issue 3.5 of item 2, and the item 4, 5 and 6 issues.

In order to ensure that this hearing can proceed as expeditiously as possible, there will be minimal examination- in-chief.  The composition of the three panels will be similar, in that four members of each of the panels will be identical, and each of the second and third panels will also have a fifth member.

The identities of the panel members were provided to the Board and intervenors.  That was in my correspondence on Monday of this week.

Although the memberships of the panels are similar -- I'm sorry, that was Tuesday of this week, I believe, my correspondence was filed.

Although the memberships of the panels are similar, Sudbury Hydro would like to keep the issues separate to ensure that the cross-examination can remain organized.  These witnesses have all been directly involved in the preparation of the application, and for all but Mr. Bacon, who was involved to a limited degree in the application and who will be on panel 3 to address questions in respect of certain of the items in that group.  This hearing will be their first introduction to the Board's process from the perspective of a witness.

In this application, Sudbury Hydro seeks approval of distribution rates that will enable it to recover its revenue requirement for the 2009 rate year.

Sudbury Hydro also seeks a number of other approvals, and those requested approvals are set out at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 5 of the application.

Throughout its application, Sudbury Hydro has been mindful of minimizing the impact of its proposed 2009 rate adjustments on customer bills.  Street light and unmetered scattered load customers will experience larger percentage increases, as they will be affected by cost allocation-related adjustments intended to begin moving their revenue-to-cost ratios toward the Board's approved ranges.

Because this oral hearing is limited in both time and scope, Sudbury Hydro's witness panels will not be taking the Board through its entire application.  However, Sudbury Hydro has two key objectives in this application:  First, to continue to maintain and enhance the reliability of its system through selected new capital projects, and to increase the safety and reliability of its system by increasing its capital investments.

The application contains a significant amount of information about Sudbury Hydro's 2009 projects and its longer-term intentions with respect to infrastructure spending.

Sudbury Hydro's application also speaks to necessary capital investments in replacing its CIS system, which is no longer supported by its vendor, and in replacing its obsolete enterprise resource planning system.

On the operations and maintenance side, Sudbury Hydro is committed to maintaining and improving its reliability in customer satisfaction.  Among its 2009 OM&A expenditures, Sudbury Hydro requires funds to hire and train new staff to address the looming shortage in skilled trades.  This is an issue faced by the electricity industry due to an aging work force.

Additionally, similar to the additional capital investments needed, Sudbury Hydro needs to increase its expenditures in operations and maintenance.

At Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1, in its summary of the application, Sudbury Hydro articulated its priorities:  First, focus on customer service; second, be accessible and accountable; third, ensure employees are treated fairly; fourth, maintain quality services in the most cost-effective manner; fifth, maximize efficiency of operations; sixth, maximize the development of sustainable capital infrastructure; seventh, establish an environment that fosters economic growth; eighth, operate in an environmentally responsible manner.

It will be Sudbury Hydro's submission that it has been able to address those priorities in this application with minimal impacts on customer bills.

With those remarks, I would like to now call Sudbury Hydro's first panel.

MS. SPOEL:  If I might, I just forgot to mention at the beginning our schedule for today.

Due to Board member commitments, we will be breaking for lunch promptly at noon, so we will take a one-hour lunch break from noon until 1:00, and we will have a morning break probably about quarter to 11:00, because I think it is too long to sit right through, but that is just so everybody is aware we need to stop.  Regardless of where we are, we do need to stop right at noon.

Could the witnesses --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, just maybe before the witnesses are sworn, I had one filing this morning, and that is a package of CVs.  I had mentioned I would be filing CVs for Ms. Jodie Koski, Nancy Whissell and Bruce Bacon today, and I believe the Panel has those.

MS. SEBALJ:  If I could mark those as Exhibit K1.1.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Bundle of CVs.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Perhaps the witnesses could come forward and be sworn, and then we could commence.
GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO INC. - PANEL 1

John Douglas Reeves, Sworn


Stanley Pawlowicz, Sworn

Brian Alan McMillan, Sworn


Nancy Whissell, Sworn

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I notice in the package of CVs that I've got one for Ms. Whissell, one for Ms. Koski and one for Mr. Bacon.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.  Ms. Koski will be on panel 2.  Mr. Bacon will be on panel 3.

MS. SPOEL:  You don't have any for Mr. McMillan?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, I do.  I'm sorry?

MS. SPOEL:  Are they already in the materials?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  They are in the materials.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Those are at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 17, appendix A.

MS. SPOEL:  Needless to say it is not possible for us to remember where to find everything in the application, either.
Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

Mr. Reeves, you are the former CEO of Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc.; is that correct?

MR. REEVES:  I am the former CEO of Sudbury Hydro, that's correct.  I retired May 31st of this year.

My replacement is Frank Callanan, and Mr. Callanan is here today but he wasn't involved in the preparation of the actual application, and is therefore not a witness in this hearing.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And how long have you been the president and or were you the president of Sudbury Hydro?

MR. REEVES:  I have been president since 2001.  I joined the utility in 1987 and on the engineering and operations side through to 2001.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you are a professional engineer?

MR. REEVES:  I am a professional electrical engineer and a member of the PEO and its predecessor since 1972.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what was your role in respect to the rate application?

MR. REEVES:  I have overall executive responsibility for the rate application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McMillan, you are the vice president distribution electrical systems for Sudbury Hydro.

MR. McMILLAN:  That’s correct.   I am the vice president of distribution electrical systems.  I am responsible for substation lines, metering, GIS, control room.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you joined the utility in 2002; is that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  That's correct.  I joined the utility in 2002.  Before that I spent 11 years with North Bay Hydro and 12 years with Ontario Hydro.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a professional engineer as well, I understand.

MR. McMILLAN:  I am a licensed professional engineer in the Province of Ontario, been a member of PEO since 1981.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Your responsibilities with respect to the application?

MR. McMILLAN:  I have responsibilities for certain parts of the capital and the OM&A related activities.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Pawlowicz, you are the vice president corporate services for Sudbury Hydro; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you are a chartered accountant?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what is your responsibility with respect to the utility?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: I am responsible for the financial matters of the utility.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibilities with respect to this application?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: For certain components of the capital and OM&A.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Ms. Whissell?  You are the supervisor of accounting for Sudbury Hydro; is that right?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a chartered accountant as well?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And how long have you been with Sudbury Hydro.

MS. WHISSELL:  Twenty-five years.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibilities with respect to the application?

MS. WHISSELL:  I had joint responsibility for the collation and compilation of the rate submission.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Ms. Spoel, are you having a bit of a problem hearing?

MS. SPOEL:  I can hear, but I just -- can you just make sure your binders aren't covering up any of the microphones because you are fairly soft spoken so it makes it harder to hear.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Members of the panel, was the prefiled evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?  Mr. Reeves?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, it was.  And I am speaking on behalf of all of the members of the panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do the members of the panel adopt the prefiled evidence as their own evidence in this hearing?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, we do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you adopt Sudbury Hydro's responses to the Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories in this proceeding as your evidence?

MR. REEVES:  The responses were prepared by Sudbury Hydro's staff and we adopt the responses as our own.  But we wish to be clear that not all of the responses reflect Sudbury Hydro's request as filed in this application.

Nor do they provide supporting evidence for the application.  For example, certain interrogatories requested Sudbury Hydro to perform calculations based on adjustments in different areas of the application.  We have performed the calculations as requested and responded to the interrogatories, but we do not agree that those changes are appropriate or that they should be adopted by the Board.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Reeves do you contemplate any revisions to the application?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.  At this time, we know that adjustments will be required in three areas.  First, to address the OEB-approved cost of capital parameters issued earlier this year; second, to incorporate updated transmission rates; and finally, to adjust our 2009 low voltage revenue calculation.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you anticipate making those changes in your draft rate order?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.  We acknowledge that these changes are required and we will incorporate them into our draft rate order that will follow the Board's decision.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Spoel, before I proceed, I will note that these panel members will be on the second and third panels as well so I won't be taking them through the preliminary questions again.

Before I make the panel available for cross-examination I would just like to ask a few questions about a couple of aspects of Sudbury Hydro's application as it relates to capital expenditures.

Maybe I could start with Mr. Reeves.  Could you advise the Board as to what Sudbury Hydro is seeking in this application with respect to capital expenditures?

MR. REEVES:  Our proposed 2009 rate base is $77,533,209.

Our 2009 rate base contemplates capital expenditures net of contributions of $10,868,524.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McMillan, could you give the Board a bit of an overview of the material Sudbury Hydro filed in respect to its projected capital spending.

MR. McMILLAN:  I would refer the Board to Exhibit 2 of our application.  The material at tab 1 provides an overview of our 2009 rate base.

They have included a detailed discussion of our capital budget at tab 3 of that exhibit.

As Mr. Reeves mentioned, our capital budget for 2009 is $10,868,524.

There are generally three types of projects:  statutory investments, plant renewals, and new connections.

All of the projects in the capital budget fall into one of two project pools.  Category and items are non-discretionary items.  These must be performed to meet statutory requirements to ensure continued supply within accepted standards to existing customers, and to connect new customers.

We have described the types of projects covered in this category at tab 1, schedule 1, page 6.  They include meter installations including transformers, replacement of PCB contaminated transformers, rehabilitation or replacement of substations, new overhead and underground connections, and the moving of plant due to road relocations.  Historically, Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. has always considered category A items as discretionary, but critical projects that are usually related to assuring acceptable long-term service to our customers.

The capital asset management plan found in Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, page 12 of 35, section 3.1, would compel us to conclude that there is no longer any discretionary in the amount of capital and that must be spent on sustaining infrastructure renewals.  The capital expenditure must move towards the $14.1 million mark identified in the report.



The discretion to defer critical projects identified in this category has been limited by Ontario Regulation 22/04.  Once the decision to change more than one component in a section of line has been made, the rebuild must meet the current CSA standards.  Old lines do not generally meet current standards.

Category A projects include plant renewal projects, projects to install fault indicators at strategic points in our system, equipment and vehicle replacement, security projects and replacement improvement costs related to our SCADA system.

Potential projects are evaluated and selected based on staff evaluations and a scoring system that we have shown at Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5 of the application.

These pools and the type of projects included in each pool are discussed at Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 6 to 12.

Our capital asset management report assists us in developing our 2009, 2010 and 2011 capital budgets.  It includes a report prepared by an external consultant on the condition of Sudbury Hydro's substations.

In addition to our own capital asset management report and evaluation and scoring process, we obtained an independent review of our proposed capital expenditure programs for the 2009 to 2011 period.  That report, prepared by Metsco, can be found at Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix B.

At Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 13 in the area entitled "2009 Project Explanations", we have shown certain key elements of our capital budget.  As I mentioned, these projects fall under either category N or category A.  As you can see, there are also three category A items that have been brought forward from our 2010 and 2011 budgets.

The reasons for bringing these projects forward are discussed at Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 15.  All of the projects in the list are discussed in greater detail from page 15 onward.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McMillan, when I look at the table at Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 16, you have shown annual capital expenditures for 2006 through 2011, and your proposed 2009 expenditure is higher than any other years and the proposed expenditures drop after 2009.

I would ask you if you can explain that.  First of all, I just want to make sure the Panel has that table available.

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MS. SPOEL:  I will get it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  Mr. McMillan?

MR. McMILLAN:  In the preamble to Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, on page 1, I would draw the Board's attention to the section titled "Asset Management Plan".  This section stresses the point that inadequate amounts have been spent on capital in the past.  This has become a serious concern for the board of directors and management over the past five years.

I would further draw the Board's attention to Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, page 12 of 35, figure 7 and the text on pages 12 and 13 of 35, wherein the target capital budget amount to sustain the distribution system would be $14.8 million.

The inadequacy of historical spending on capital is discussed in our October 27, 2008 Capital Asset Management Report, also referred to in the application as the Capital Asset Management Plan.

The plan explains why historical level of spending on renewal projects has been too low and why increased levels of capital spending are very important.  The report can be found at Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A of the application.

Speaking specifically to the question of annual capital expenditures in 2009, 2010 and 2011 capital budgets, the capital budget contemplates three types of expenditures, statutory investment, plant renewal and new connections.

At Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 16, table 1 shows our distribution plant capital expenditures for 2006 through 2011.  Included in the plant renewal category for 2009 are three items I would like to mention.

The first is a replacement of our CIS system, the capital expenditure of 2.1 million.  This expenditure is discussed at Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, appendix C.

The second is the replacement of our enterprise resource planning system, a capital expenditure of $540,000.  This expenditure was discussed at Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 38.

The third expenditure relates to an element of our porcelain insulator replacement program that was to have been brought forward into the 2009 capital budget from 2010 and 2011.  The total expenditure for porcelain insulator replacement in 2009 had been budgeted at $937,000.  This included both work initially planned for this year and work brought forward from 2010 and 2011.  The program is discussed at Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, pages 28 and 45.

In preparing our response for Board interrogatory 32b, Sudbury Hydro determined that it reduced the total amount by $467,000.  When these items are removed from the plant renewal category of 2009 capital budget, the net plant renewal expenditure for 2009 is 5.3 million and the total net capital expenditure is 7.7 million.

This is comparable to the 5.8 million in plant renewable expenditures projected for 2010, and 6.8 million projected for 2011.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Finally, Mr. Pawlowicz, this is a more general question, but I will ask it now.  Do you have any comments on the fact that you won't have -- you clearly won't have any rate order in place for May 1st of this year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Thank you.  My comments relate to the application as a whole, so I won't be repeating them on each witness panel.

Sudbury Hydro intends to carry out all of the capital projects outlined for the -- for the year 2009 and intends to implement the OM&A plans scheduled for the 2009 rate year as set out in the application.

We have the labour capacity to carry out that work, even if we need to use outside contractors, and our application justifies the planned work as being required to ensure the reliability and safety of our distribution system.

In our application, we asked that the Board approve our proposed rates and charges effective May 1st, 2009.  The Board could not provide that order by May 1st.  Accordingly, we asked that the Board extend its interim order so that we can continue to recover our costs and operate the utility until such time that the Board issues its final directive -- until the Board issues its final directive and directs us to prepare a rate order that recovers the annualized revenue requirement over the remaining period of the 2009 rate year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.

Ms. Spoel, those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd, are you going first or is Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Buonaguro has convinced me that I should go first.

MS. NOWINA:  Lost the coin toss, did you?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I did, indeed.  Let's start with a couple of preliminary questions.

For all four of the witnesses, which ones of you worked for the city before you worked for Sudbury Hydro, before you worked for the corporation that you now work for?

MR. REEVES:  None of us have worked for the city.  I take it City of Greater Sudbury?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wasn't -- prior to incorporating, wasn't Sudbury Hydro a department of the city?

MR. REEVES:  No.  Sudbury Hydro was a commission, like many other municipal utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was operated in an integrated way with the city staff; is that correct?

MR. REEVES:  No, it wasn't.  We always had -- you mean did we always have an accounting department and a finance department and an HR department?  Yes, we always operated as an independent utility under a five-person elected commission through until incorporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The second preliminary question is we asked in School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 7 for a copy of your 2008 audited financial statements, and, at that time, in April, they had not been done yet.

Can you now file those?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, we can file those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could include in those the various companies in the group because I know that there's, for example, all of your people are in plus, right?  And you have transactions back and forth with the two numbered companies.  So if you could file the whole package we would appreciate it, each of the individual statements and the total.

MR. REEVES:  Could I ask for some clarification?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. REEVES:  All of the people that service the utility are either in the plus company or in the wires company.  We do have other employees, speaking as Greater Sudbury Utilities, in other affiliates that are neither in the plus company or the wires company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have one-seven-something-or-other and one-six-something-or-other, the two other companies.  I guess you have a telecom.

MR. REEVES:  And a telecommunications.

MR. SHEPHERD: We have the 2007 statements already filed?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All I am asking that you update the package instead of just part of it.

MR. REEVES:  No, there is no problem with that.  I only wanted to clarify if you are speaking of Greater Sudbury Utilities, all of the employees aren't in the plus company or the hydro company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

MS. SPOEL:  If I could interrupt for a second.  Is there an org chart anywhere in the materials that we can refer to so that --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, there is.

MS. SPOEL:  -- so that we can understand the various relationships?  If you just give us a reference, we can get it later.

MS. SEBALJ:  I believe the org charts start at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 12, appendix A.

MS. NOWINA:  That shows the corporate structure?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is the corporate structure.  There is also a detailed org chart of the utility operations that is in Board Staff Interrogatory 25, appendix 25(a).  It goes on for several pages.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you repeat that reference.

MR. SHEPHERD: Board Staff Interrogatory 25, appendix 25(a).

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am assuming that undertaking was provided?  So can I mark it now?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  Subject only to, I would ask that we have an opportunity to check on the confidentiality of certain of those financial statements.  We may ask that financials for the competitive companies be filed in confidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe, Madam Chair, that these have all been filed for 2007 not in confidence.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, there could be an issue about -- have they been approved by your board of directors?  Are they public in that sense, that they have gone through -- not public in that sense?  But are they final in the sense they have been approved?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, they're final.  They have been approved by board of directors audit committee and by our auditors.

MR. SHEPHERD: So I would submit, Madam Chair, if there is something different in the 2008 financial statement that causes confidentiality to arise, that is understandable.  If some new project is -- but otherwise, the company has already basically told the Board.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, perhaps Mr. Sidlofsky can look at them and if he wishes to make a claim of confidential on any part of them, he can so advise us once he has had a chance to do that.  Is that acceptable?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's fine, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  With that caveat.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  With that caveat, Undertaking J1.1 will be the provision of the audited financial statements 2008 for Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc, Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus Inc., Greater Sudbury Telecommunications Inc., 1627596 Ontario Inc. and 1700211 Ontario Inc.

MR. SHEPHERD: Does that include the holding company?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  And Greater Sudbury Utilities Inc., which is the holding company.
UNDERTAKING no. J1.1:  PROVISION OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008 FOR GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO INC, GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO PLUS INC., GREATER SUDBURY TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC., 1627596 ONTARIO INC. AND 1700211 ONTARIO INC. AND GREATER SUDBURY UTILITIES INC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next thing, this is sort of still preliminary.  I will actually get to rate base direct issues in a second.


Mr. Reeves, in the technical conference -- and I think I saw somewhere else as well perhaps in a letter -- you referred to the fact that Sudbury has the worst roads in Ontario.  And you were making a point, I think, about infrastructure deficit.

I wonder if you can tell the Board -- I was trying to figure out it out reading the technical conference.  I was wondering if you can tell the Board how the road situation in Sudbury relates to your capital plan.

MR. REEVES:  Well, when I said I had the worst roads in Ontario, I think that was an opinion.

[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I thought you worked for the city.

[Laughter]


MR. REEVES:  Really the analogy that I was trying to make was that city council - and there is a lot of public talk about it at this time within the city - thought it would be in the best interest of the public to keep taxes down and not spend money on roads to quite a degree.

The end result is that the city has built a real infrastructure deficit with respect to roads.

When you don't spend money, enough money on the infrastructure for a period of years, you build an infrastructure deficit.  The closer we look at our distribution system and the professional advice that we get externally says that we are not in the same situation as the roads, but we are kind of headed that way, if we don't increase our capital spending.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So your point is you don't want to make the same mistake that the city did in under-spending on infrastructure, you want to make sure it is kept up?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought there was some more direct connection.  It was an analogy.  Okay.  So then I wonder if we can turn to your capital asset management report which I believe is Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A.

Can you bring that up, and I might spend a few minutes on this so if it is possible to get it open, that would be good.

Do you have that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand correctly from the questions at the technical conference, this was not -- this is not something that was part of your normal planning.  When you came to be doing a rate case you said we better actually take a look in more depth at our capital needs and you got some surprises when you did.  Isn't that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  I think that there is some truth in that.  This plan was new.  The methodology behind the plan was new.  But we did have a capital plan for the year 2000 to 2005 which is filed as an appendix to this plan.  It was put together in a different way.  It was put together on a different basis.  But this plan, we tried to follow a more rigorous, a more rigorous methodology of evaluating the projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have this 2008 plan and the previous plan was the 2000 plan; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Eight years earlier, nine years earlier, I guess.

In the interim, did you not have a plan?

MR. McMILLAN:  Just the 2000 plan.  We used all of the aspects of the 2000 plan, the projects that were put into that plan as the basis for our capital budgets year over year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was a five-year plan, but it actually ended up being a nine-year plan.  In fact you are still doing some of those projects; is that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD: I got the impression that a lot of how the annual planning has taken place over the years has been more professional judgment, that is, you have a number of engineers, experienced engineers in your staff and you are applying professional judgment on a day-to-day basis, rather than a rigorous formula.  Normally.

MR. McMILLAN:  To some degree, I think you are correct.  We put together our capital plan at budget time which names projects that we deem to be important and ones that we want to do over the year that is ahead.

As we go through the year, though, we are faced with projects that we are required to do as a result of statutory responsibilities, such as road relocations, or new connections.

Given that there is a finite limit to the amount of capital dollars that we spend in a given year, you, from time to time, must make decisions on whether you are going to stick to that asset renewal plan or whether you are -- which of those projects you will have to defer for a short period of time in order to accomplish the statutory things you are required to do?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are reprioritizing during the year?

MR. McMILLAN:  You have to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This plan is your plan; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are the author of the plan?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You relied on an independent review by Metsco?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I understand your questions at the technical conference, you basically said to Metsco, Look, I don't want to direct you into what you are to do.  I need your input.  You go look at what we've got.  You go look at our records and tell us what our deficiencies are.

MR. McMILLAN:  I think it was a little bit more directed than that.  Basically I say, Here is our plan.  Review it in your professional opinion.  Tell us if we are on the right track.  Tell us if you think we are focussing our energies and our efforts in the right areas and appropriately.

And that is what I asked them to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Their answer was, yes, you should spend this money.  It is a good idea?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you turn to page 11 of your plan?

And at figure 5 at the top of this page, has -- I guess that is 2001 through 2007 historical spending; right?  That is actual?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, that is actual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that all capital spending or is there something missing?

MR. McMILLAN:  No, that is all capital spending.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you have 2008.  You have a budget of $7.2 million.  In 2009, you have a budget of $8.2 million.  But you are actually asking this Board for 10.8 million.

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So help us with that.

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, what we decided to do was to bring forward three projects from 2010 and 2011 and to levelize it.  This plan contemplated a ramping up of capital expenditures over a three-year period.  Really, what we are trying to do is levelize our plant renewal.

In the preamble, when I discuss the other three projects that I had suggested we should take out for purposes of looking at that figure, we had the porcelain insulator replacement, which has been re-estimated downward, and there is some money we feel we don't have to spend there.

There is the customer information system replacement at 2.1 million that we see as a one-time event, like a singular event in time.  You don't replace your customer system year after year after year like you do with plant renewal.  So we see that as an expenditure we have to make, but an expenditure that when you look at our plant renewal, the actual spending on poles and wires and transformers, that doesn't impact that.  We want to get -- the purpose of this is to get that up.

So we see that one and the 10.8 million, we see that project as being not the same as a plant renewal, although it was put in that category, because it is renewing a system that we own.

Similarly, the Enterprise Resource Planning System which was bought in the '90s, which has not had a software upgrade since the year 2000, is a system that we need to replace.  However, in the process of doing that, we have not found -- we had not found a system that we were terribly happy with in terms of the capabilities of the system, and then -- because you need to understand that the CIS and the ERP need to work together.  They need to be able to transfer data and talk back and forth to one another in a rational and easy fashion.

We now are faced with the CIS replacement.  So, once again, we are looking at that one-time ERP replacement, that $540,000, but looking at it happening once we have our CIS set.

So in looking at this plan, we were contemplating a ramp-up of expenditures, resources and those types of things.

In sitting down and putting this rate application together we said, Well, maybe we need to levelize our plant renewal, look at it as something that we are doing in a more steady fashion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wasn't -- it wasn't that you actually needed to spend this money in 2009, but, rather, because this is your rebasing year, you wanted to make sure that whatever your rates are covered the same amount year after year.  So you levelized it to do that; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say we're trying to levelize it to cover the cost over the time of the resourcing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is responsive to the date of your rebasing?

MR. McMILLAN:  To some degree that is true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the Metsco report looked at this capital asset management plan before you scheduled anything; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when -- what's the guy's name?

MR. McMILLAN:  Sean Otal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When Mr. Otal said, Yes, this is good, we like what you are doing, he was saying, We like what you're doing to what you had here, not what you changed?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would suggest that what we asked Mr. Otal to do was not to look at timing of projects, but, rather, to look at validity of projects themselves.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so you are not saying that his view of when you should spend this is relevant.  He hasn't given you any opinion and you don't have any independent review on when these things should be spent, only on whether they should be spent at some point?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say that as a package of projects, he's given us the opinion that they need to be done and that they need to be done in the time frame of this rate rebasing in the three-year window that we looked at, 2009, 2010, 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So he said that somewhere in his report, that this should be done in the next three years?  These things should be done in the next three years or four years?

MR. McMILLAN:  I don't believe that that statement is there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  So then why do you think that is the opinion he gave you?

MR. McMILLAN:  Because the package of projects that we presented to Mr. Otal, over the window that we have envisioned, the 2009, 2010 and 2011 window, I believe was reviewed in the context that they needed to be done in that three-year window.  That is my belief.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

I am just looking for a reference you gave us here.  You gave us a reference in your direct evidence to Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 16, and --

MR. McMILLAN:  Exhibit 2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your table 1, distribution plant capital, 2.3.1, schedule 1, page 16.  It was in your direct evidence.  You referred to it in your direct evidence.

MR. McMILLAN:  I just need to find it.  Exhibit 2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Tab 3, schedule 1, page 16.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Hm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am just -- I hope you didn't lose page 11 of the report, because I want to compare the two.

I am getting technical assistance from Mr. Buonaguro.  He wouldn't do the first cross, but he will help me with the visuals.  So this is the page we were talking about earlier, which is - there we go - from the capital asset management plan; right?

So now if we take a look at 2.3.1, page 16, we see in -- just look at the plant renewal line there.  2006 and 2007 are the same as in your plan, because they're actuals; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2008, you actually spent a little more.  Your budget was a little more than your actual, right, by about $100,000; true?

MR. McMILLAN:  Than our year end projection, because this was submitted as a year end projection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Then in 2009, the report that Mr. Otal saw, anyway, and the one that you said this is what we should do in October of 2008, said, Let's spend 5.5 million on plant renewal in 2009, but what you have asked the Board to approve is $8.4 million; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Again, I go back to my evidence-in-chief and say that, in my opinion, that $8.4 includes 2.1 million of the customer information system, which is a one-time event.  So I don't consider -- although it is in there in that category it is not about spending on poles, wires and transformers.

I go to the $540,000 that we are spending on the Enterprise Resource Planning Software which again is not spending on poles, wires and transformers.  And I also referred to the $400,000 plus we are planning not to spend on the insulator replacement program, which would bring that, that number, if you account for those three items, would bring that number down to $5.3 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But those projects are in the 2010 and 2011 budgets; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Which two?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The three that you're talking about, the adjustments you just made.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're all in the capital asset management plan, they're all in there, they are just in 2010 and 2011; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  No.  The software replacement program and the ERP were in the 2009 plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the capital asset management plan, they were in 2009?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you just adjusted for them?

MR. McMILLAN:  What I'm suggesting is, in plant renewal, okay, in the plant renewal category, the ERP in the customer information system, you will find them in the capital asset management plan named as parts of the 2009 plant renewal.

But if you look at them for what they are, they're software upgrades.  They don't pertain to spending money on infrastructure, to improving reliability to the customers which is what I was -- what the focus of Mr. Otal's review was.  He did not review the customer information system software.  He did not review the ERP.  He looked at the external plant:  The poles, the wires, the transformers and so --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me understand this.  The capital asset management plan that you tabled, that you filed and that you approved, basically only had about 2 million, really, or so of -- give or take -- of real hard distribution plant stuff, because it had all of the software in it or 2.2 or whatever.  It's a small number.  When you realize that you said, Well, what are our people going to do?  We have all of these people.  They have to be doing something.  We want them working on our system.  Is that right?

MS. NOWINA:  Can I interrupt, Mr. Shepherd.  I just have a question.

Mr. McMillan, the table we have on the screen which is from your asset plan, does it include or does it not include the software changes, upgrades?

MR. McMILLAN:  I'm sorry, I must apologize to the Board.  I am incorrect.  That table does not include the 2.1 million for software.  I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Anywhere?

MR. McMILLAN:  Anywhere.  That table does not include that.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your capital asset management plan assumed you weren't replacing your CIS and then you decided to?

MR. McMILLAN:  It had already been decided.  It simply wasn't included in my plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. McMILLAN:  I am going to have to surmise that when I put that together, my focus was on plant and my colleagues here were working on the CIS and I did not think to include it when I put this together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about the ERP, is it in here?

MR. McMILLAN:  ERP is in here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in the capital asset management plan?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the ERP, which you just gave evidence, the reason why it is good to replace it now is because you are replacing the CIS, you had it in the plan but did not have the CIS in the plan.

MR. McMILLAN:  I gave evidence that it must to follow the CIS is what the intent of the evidence was trying to portray.  You would normally build an ERP that is able to build to or match to or work with your customer information system.

The ERP has been on this plan for a number of years, as I said in my previous evidence.  We have been looking for a new ERP because our ERP was purchased in the early 1990s.  It has not had a software upgrade since the 2000s, the early 2000.  And we did not find something suitable in the year since we first started looking just after 2000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what about the other big software project is the SCADA project, the upgrade?

MR. McMILLAN:  The SCADA project is in that number, yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is in the 2009 package?

MR. McMILLAN:  That number right there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then if I come back to 2, 3, 1, page 16, basically the -- if you take out the 2.1 million for the CIS, you are saying that then 2009 is really more like $5.6 million after you adjust for the porcelain insulators.  And that's the increases, the annual increases that you were talking about, that you originally were planning.

MR. McMILLAN:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat your question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  2, 3, 1, schedule 1 has 8.4 million in 2009 for plant renewal.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You just said that part of that, the $2.1 million for the CIS is something you didn't have in your original plan.

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was being planned, but it just wasn't in your plan; right?

So if you take that out and you take the $467,000 for porcelain out --

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are actually reducing your rate application for that; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you get $5.7 million for -- in plant renewal for 2009?  About?  It doesn't matter.  It is in that range?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.  We also included the ERP and that was to save around 5.3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are, in fact, proposing a step-by-step increase in your plant renewal spending each year, with the exception of CIS and -- right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, we are.

MR. SHEPHERD: So then when you were talking about levelizing things out, how does that relate?  Because it doesn't look like you did levelize anything out, all you did was put in CIS.

MR. McMILLAN:  I would have to say that is a correct conclusion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the other question relating to this chart, 2, 3, 1, page 16 is new connections.  They look like they're really regular, except 2009, you got an extra 1.2 million.

MR. McMILLAN:   Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you help me with that?

MR. McMILLAN:  In new connections, I have included a project 44 kV tie between the 28 M4 and the 9 M4.  That is a new 44 kV line for $725,000.

So that is the bump you see in that number.  And that line is, I put it into new connections because it is a brand new line.  You can't, I don't think by any stretch of the imagination, envision it as plant renewal, something that you had existing and you are renewing.  It is a new line we would build between our Long Lake substation and the 9 M4 to provide a loop feed on a 44 kV that is currently a radio feed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a Green Energy Act initiative or is it for some other reason?

MR. McMILLAN:  The Long Lake Station, a risk has been identified because of this radial feed that, should the feeder go down, that station would be out of service for a long length of time.

Now, in the past, that station was fed with an overhead 44 kV line, which is a fairly easy thing to deal with and fix, but in the 2005/2006 time frame, the Ministry of Transportation built a level -- rebuilt a level crossing at Long Lake Road in the Highway 17 bypass.  They rebuilt it into a semi cloverleaf.  And at that time, we had to bury the 44 kV, put it underground for about 800 metres to go under this semi cloverleaf.

That underground 44 creates a higher risk.  If it were to fail, it's very difficult to replace quickly and those customers would be out of service, and they are a radial-fed customer.

So we saw the requirement to back that area up as having become more important.

Second to that, in -- this is 2009.  In late 2008, early 2009, the -- late 2008, a proposed major shopping centre on this -- in this area, was proposed for this area.

When we first reviewed the shopping centre, our thoughts were that we were going to hook it onto the 12 kV system, which would have been fed from the Long Lake Station, and that caused us some concern to pick that load up from that station, given the station was radial.

Eventually, it was determined that the size of the load for this major shopping area was actually going to exceed our conditions of service levels that would have allowed us to hook it onto 12 kV.  We were going to hook it onto the 44.

Now, the 44 kV system that feeds out in that direction is more than capable to handle that size of load, but, again, it is a radial feed.  If the system goes down, there is no backup.  So we saw that as important, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That project is going ahead?

MR. McMILLAN:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are they making a contribution for this upgrade?

MR. McMILLAN:  No, they are not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. McMILLAN:  Because, in our opinion, the enhancement is not required -- the enhancement to an existing line is not required.  We had already contemplated the line build with 28 M4 and 9 M4 tie for Long Lake purposes.  We simply see them as moving the priority up a little bit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So two questions about this.  First, this is 700 of your $1.2 million overage this year.  What is the rest of it?

MR. McMILLAN:  Also included in that new connections we have a $400,000 line item for a new -- land for new Centennial substation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That new substation is going in this year?

MR. McMILLAN:  That new substation is going in next year.  We would purchase the land this year, prepare our designs for the new station.  And I should say it is not a brand new station.  It is a replacement of an existing station with which we have some significant land difficulties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Significant?

MR. McMILLAN:  It's on a piece of leased land.  The substation was built, as the name implies, in the Centennial year.  It was built on a piece of land owned by Bell Canada.  The land is in fact landlocked.  We have no easements, no right of access to the property.  We get access to the property through a neighbour's land, but we actually have no right of access, no easement to the property.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you.  You built a substation and you don't have legal access to it?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, go on.

MR. McMILLAN:  So in 1967, we leased the land from Bell Canada, built the substation.  It's landlocked.  We have attempted to purchase the land from Bell Canada.  We spent the better part of a year trying to negotiate a purchase from Bell Canada, plus easements to have access to the land, which would have been -- we would have required, and we were unsuccessful.

So -- and the reason that that came up was that the substation, being built in 1967 - '77, '87, '97 - it is 32 years old.  It has paper-insulated lead-covered cables for the main feeders.  We were contemplating replacing those.  We actually had a budget item I think in the year 2005 to do that when it came to my attention that we were in leased land.

I have been down to the leased land in the substation route once before at another utility, and I did not contemplate rehabilitating that station until we owned that land and had reasonable access to it.  We weren't able to get ownership of the land.  We were unable to get reasonable access.

So we contemplated -- we are moving that station to a new location, and that is what the new connection land --

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is like an adjacent property or something that you have bought, or new --

MR. McMILLAN:  We have not purchased a property yet.  We are still looking for a piece of property of a suitable size and location to purchase so we can put that -- but it will be nearby, yes, if that is your point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the status of those?  You haven't selected the land yet?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have somebody looking for you?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How long have they been looking?

MR. McMILLAN:  They have been looking for the better part of a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your expectation is this should be in rate base this year.  You are not going to be using it this year; right?  You are just going to own it, you hope?

MR. McMILLAN:  We are just going to purchase it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You hope?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't identified it yet.  You have five months to go to identify it and close it?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will not be using it this year?

MR. McMILLAN:  We will not be building a substation on it this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You won't be using it for anything else, will you?  It is not going to be a parking lot?

MR. McMILLAN:  We could use it for storage of some items, but I don't know that we will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

You wanted to take a break around this time?

MS. SPOEL:  If that would be convenient, yes.  We will resume about 11 o'clock.

--- Recess taken at 10:42 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:58 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There we are.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Can I go ahead?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We were just -- before the break, we were talking about this 44 kV line that turns your Long Lake Substation from a radial to a looped feed.  That will have a benefit under the Green Energy Act; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  It will have a benefit under the Green Energy Act, that is true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that an area where there's likely to be renewable energy projects?

MR. McMILLAN:  I am sure there was a proposal in that area that has, we have had a preliminary meeting with a customer for a wind generator, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if this spending is approved now, presumably it's just accelerated from -- it would be in your Green Energy plan anyway?

MR. McMILLAN:  It is possible that that particular plan might end up as part of a Green Energy plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me go back to the capital plan and I am still on this one that my friend has so helpfully put on the screen, because I keep losing it in my papers here.

The plant renewal one is really the one that is the infrastructure issue, right, that is where your infrastructure spending is.  Your new connections are infrastructure too, but it is a regular annual need; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, I guess I would characterize it kind of a little bit differently.

We get an envelope of money to spend on capital, per year.  And we -- there is a finite amount of capital money to spend per year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Let me just stop you.

I mean, I like how that sounds, but what you've proposed to this Board is in fact not a finite amount of capital.  This is:  This is how much we want to spend.  Let us spend it.  Isn't that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  That to me would be if I have approval to spend it, that would be the new finite amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Go ahead.  Sorry.

MR. McMILLAN:  So in each year there's a finite amount of capital out there and we put our budget together and we say:  Okay, based on history we think new connections we'll be spending this much and we believe through our discussions with the roads authorities an our joint use partners, the statutory investments will be this much.

But if the city, for example, were to get a significant amount of infrastructure money from the federal and provincial governments for roads relocations and tell us that we -- issue us a pole moving order, we would have to review what we were doing in plant renewal.  We would have to look at, within that finite amount of money approved expenditure for the year, which project we would have to defer to a future year, in order to accommodate that statutory requirement and new connections are covered under the obligation to connect in the Distribution System Code, so similar idea there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you plan to spend $10 million capital in a year, say, and that's what is approved.  You go through the process.  You do your initial -- your internal analysis you get your number you get it approved, everything, and then you got suddenly another million dollars of demands for road movement and stuff like that, for example, then you're not going to spend 11 million, you are going to spend 10 million but you will reprioritize; correct?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason I am asking about that is, these plant renewal numbers, it appears that -- and maybe this is what you said in your direct evidence, it appears that you spent a lot less in 2001 through 2007 than you are proposing to spend in the future.

MR. McMILLAN:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD: That's the period of time in which you weren't allowed any rate increases and now you are, and now you are going to spend more money.

You understand that that appears to be -- there appears to be a connection?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, this is an opportunity to put a request forward to this Board, to the Ontario Energy Board to say that: The funding for our plant renewals is -- has been significantly underfunded in the past.  The rates don't support the extra expenditures that we need to do, and we need a higher rate in order to achieve that goal and sustain the distribution system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I thought I heard one of your witnesses say, in your direct evidence, that you had to spend what you had to spend.  And if it meant the shareholder didn't make as much money, too bad, because you have to do what is necessary.  Did I misinterpret what your direct evidence was?  I think it was you, Mr. Pawlowicz.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I can't recall the specifics, but I doubt very much that I would have made that statement.  We have that policy that Brian alluded to, that the envelope is fixed.  It is fixed with a budget process, with our board of directors.  And we would make the adjustments between plant renewal, new connections, or statutory investments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess you must be conscious of the fact that it appears that you harvested the asset for years because you couldn't get rate increases, and now that you can get rate increases you are proposing to catch up.  Isn't that what it appears to be.  Is that an unfair characterization?

MR. McMILLAN:  I think I wouldn't characterize it that way, Mr. Shepherd.

I mean harvesting the assets implies a plan by the utility not to invest.

We would always choose to have improve and increase the investments, and that discussion has been around the engineering table at this utility in and every other utility I have been at for years and years and years.



If you will recall, 1999 rates were frozen by the Harris government for a period.  Nobody got any rate increases, actually previous to that in the '90s.  I think our efforts in 1999 would refer to this Board, the Ontario Energy Board when market opening came and incorporation and all of those things under the energy act or the Electricity Act, it was deemed that the revenue requirement for each utility would be fixed as the revenue requirement as per 1999.

Well, in 1999 we just come through a period of time when we had no rate increases.  We were not allowed to have rate increases and our revenue requirement was, in fact, fixed.  This is one of the first times in my memory where we get to come before a body such as this when we get to say, We need money to spend on capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not 100 percent true.

MR. McMILLAN:  That is my recollection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think you are intending to mislead anyone.

MR. McMILLAN:  That is my recollection of the events.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But my understanding was there actually were some rate increases, you actually had more money, but the money was for the shareholder; right?  That is you had money for cost of capital.  You had money for your first tranche of MARR.  You had that money.  But it wasn't really yours.  Your shareholder got it; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  In the scheme of things, that is the way that that played out, in my recollection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the ratepayers paid more?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would not disagree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just before I leave this chart, under new connections, I have two things.  First of all, under new connections, your 2009 budget is significantly less than what you are now telling this Board, and I assume that difference is this 44 kV line; is that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHRD:  So you got 2,800,000 and in your application to this Board, 2805, and that looks like about that difference.

MR. McMILLAN:  Let me just check that number.

That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD: Okay.  And that was in 2011, right, because if I take a look at these numbers, your 2011 number in your capital asset management plan was 2349.  And now you are saying it is going to be 1624.

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That looks, again, about the same.  So what's happened is you had that in 2011 and now presumably because of the shopping centre, you said maybe we better do this in 2009.

MR. McMILLAN:  Certainly the shopping centre was one of the factors.  I think the realization that -- or the contemplation when we sat down and contemplated, the contemplation that Long Lake Substation now is fed from, with an 800-metre underground 44 kV feed, that does present a certain risk was also a factor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, but it was a factor in October 2008 when you did this plan, and this plan, you had it in 2011.  I am talking about your changing the timing.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.  Okay, I would agree you could characterize it the way that you have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you knew about the problem in 2005.  So the risk actually arose in 2005 when you undergrounded the line; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so why didn't you do it in 2006 or 2007 or 2008?

MR. McMILLAN:  Because we deemed ourselves to have other that were necessary to do in those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2006 and 2007, you have quite a lot of statutory investments.  What are those?

MR. McMILLAN:  2006 and 2007?  Those would have been road relocations, I believe.  Part of that would have been that particular job.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that would have been in 2005; right?  That million-three-forty-three includes your undergrounding of those 800 metres?

MR. McMILLAN:  The million-three, more than likely a lot of it is in 2006, I would say, just based on my recollection.  I don't have the work orders in front of me, but I would say more of that took place or much of that took place in 2006, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, okay.

Let me then just turn to -- I don't know where to go next.  Can you turn to Exhibit, if I can find it, 2.2.1, page 7 -- no, page 8.  Sorry, page 8.  Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8.

MR. McMILLAN:  Exhibit 2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Tab 2, schedule 1, page 8.  Schedule 4, fixed assets for 2009.





MS. SPOEL:  Is this the one, Mr. Shepherd, table 6, combined Greater Sudbury --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Table 6, exactly.

MS. SPOEL:  Table 6.  Okay, fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?  Okay.

So if I understand that table, you have a column opening balance for each of cost and accumulated depreciation, and that is your January 1st, 2009 number; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a column "closing balance", again, for cost and for net book value, which is your December 31st, 2009 number?

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you have an additions column for cost, and that additions column for cost is your capital spending closing to rate base in 2009?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In this calendar year; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And these things close to rate base at various times during the year.  They're not all at once; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, we have here two-million-six-forty.  That is the CIS and the ERP.  When does that close to rate base?  It hasn't yet; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  It has not been finalized.  We anticipate the billing system to close to rate base in November.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In November, okay.  So, similarly, you have things like poles, towers, overhead conductors, et cetera, lots of spending in there, and that happens during the year.  You start -- you finish projects and they close to rate base, some of them in May, some of them in October; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, because you are in Sudbury, a lot of this, the outside spending, in fact closes to rate base in the fall, because you can't really start your projects in January; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say that we do do work in the wintertime.  We do close projects to rate base.  But, in general, the construction season really starts to get rolling when the weather gets warm in April, May.  There are projects, capital projects, ongoing over each and every winter, always have been.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you see the number there, ten-million-eight-sixty-eight.  That's the number you are seeking this Board's approval of for capital spending this year; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is -- now, I am always -- I always want to make clear about this distinction between capital spending and closing to rate base.  Presumably you had some capital spending in 2008 that's closing to rate base in 2009; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Very little.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had no -- Mr. McMillan just said there was projects ongoing over the winter.  So there must have been something that hadn't closed yet.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have closed our capital to rate base.  We had very little WIP at the end of 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when did you start the CIS project?

MS. WHISSELL:  We started discussions back in 2008.  The actual work commenced in 2009 on the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, similarly, these things like your various -- you know, underground conductors and devices, that 670,000, that all started after the beginning of this calendar year?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That seems unusual to me.  I have never heard of a utility that didn't have anything ongoing at the year end.  Is it your practice to close capital to rate base even if the project is not yet finished?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Shazam.  Can you tell us how much was closed to rate base in 2008 that was not used and useful at that time?

MS. WHISSELL:  I personally cannot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide that?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we will mark that as J1.2, and that is to provide the amount from 2008 which was closed to rate base before 2009.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  To provide the amount from 2008 which was closed to rate base before 2009 that is not used and useful, as well as listing of projects and cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you could provide a listing of the projects and how much, that would be useful.  I mean, obviously not the little stuff, but the big stuff.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, Jay, just to finish the undertaking, I think I should have said that is not used and useful.

MR. SHEPHERD: Yes.  Then the second thing, and it probably should be a separate undertaking, I assume that your plan for this year follows the same principle; that is, some of the money you are spending this year is actually not going to be used and useful this year.  We already saw the land you are going to buy.  Presumably there is other things, too.  If you followed that practice last year, presumably you plan to follow it this year, too?

MS. WHISSELL:  Our assumption is, for the most part, the work is completed in the year, so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And put into service?

MR. McMILLAN:  Perhaps an example would be useful, okay?

When you rebuild a line -- and I am, in particular, thinking of a project that we did carry over the winter.  We did our rebuild on Gary Avenue where we combined two 44 kV lines, one that was on the street, one that was back lot onto the street.  Before year end, the poles were in; the 44 kV was energized.  That line was running.

The 12 kV under-build was not up and running at that point in time, nor was it put into rate base, because it had not yet been worked upon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, how was the load being served, with the new line or old line?

MR. McMILLAN:  The 12 kV load was being served by the old line, but the 44 kV, which is over-build, was in, up, running and alive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And serving load?

MR. McMILLAN:  And serving load.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not what I'm asking about.

MR. McMILLAN:  No, but that is an example of a project.  When we think of a project as being complete, that's one single project, rebuilding that line, built putting the poles in, putting the wire on, building the 44, rebuilding the 12 kV underneath, transferring all of the 12 kV and the secondary customers to those 12 kV.

The poles go in; the 44 goes up.  You get the 44 back alive, because we need our 44 kV system.  That was done before year end.


So that project up to that point would have been capitalized the.  The project is not complete.  It still carries on.  We are now going to add the 12 kV beneath.  Transfer the customers to the -- transfer the 12 kV system over to the new line.  Transfer the customers to the new 12 kV line that is under-built on the same poles as the 44 kV.  There is an example of one that is a combination of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not suggesting they're all like that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Not every one is like that, absolutely not.  I am suggesting one that was at this year end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I am trying to understand is do you have projects -- I thought you said, yes, you had projects where you haven't finished the project.  So you are not using it for ratepayers yet.  But you spent the money in 2008.  And you have closed it to rate base in 2008 and you will finish it in 2009 and start to use it for ratepayers.

MS. WHISSELL:  We would have to undertake to get that information.

MR. McMILLAN:  We would have to look at that and give you a correct answer to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then now that was the first undertaking.  Then the next undertaking is:  Do you have some projects in 2009 that you do not expect to be used and useful for ratepayers at the end of the year?  Can you undertake to provide that list?

MS. SEBALJ:  Excuse me we will mark that as a separate undertaking, J1.3.

MR. SHEPHERD: 1.3?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADVISE ABOUT PROJECTS IN 2009 NOT EXPECTED TO BE USED AND USEFUL FOR RATEPAYERS AT THE END OF THE YEAR


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So still on this continuity schedule.  One column here is under accumulated depreciation you have additions; right?

There are two normal practices for calculating depreciation.  One is you use what is called the half-year rule, in which you, your additions for the year, you take half the depreciation on the assumption that on average they close to rate base mid-point during the year.

The other is, and some utilities use this, a monthly accrual where you calculate how much is in rate base in each given month and you accrue your depreciation monthly.

My understanding is you did neither of that.  You assumed that all new additions to rate base in 2009 were January 1st and got full depreciation in the first year; is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in assuming that the impact of that on your depreciation number for 2009 is approximately $490,000?  That is $490,000 more depreciation than would have been the case had you used the half-year rule?

MS. WHISSELL:  We would have to undertake to do that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD: Can you undertake to do that, then?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, just before my friend continues.  I might ask for a bit of clarification from the Board.

Issue 4.5 on the issues list is whether Greater Sudbury's depreciation expense is appropriate.  That is not a matter that is scheduled for treatment in the oral hearing.



MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess we want to make written submissions on this.  We think it is relatively obvious that the depreciation number has to be adjusted and the Board has no other way of finding out what the correct number is, but to ask the question.

It will affect the rate base at the end of the year, so we thought it was fair game.  But we are in the Board's hands.

[Board Panel confer]

MS. SPOEL:  Well, I think we will resolve it this way, Mr. Sidlofsky and Mr. Shepherd.  It is not an issue on which we expect to have -- it is an open issue in the hearing, in the proceeding.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I agree and it is an open issue for submission.  It is not an open issue for the oral hearing.

MS. SPOEL:  I think it is fair enough for Mr. Shepherd to ask for the calculation of numbers that would be -- would otherwise be used but I don't expect, Mr. Shepherd, you will be cross-examining any further on this specific point?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not.

MS. SPOEL:  So you can get the calculations from the applicant and you may make your submissions in due course.

MR. SHEPHERD: Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we will mark that as J1.4 and just for clarity, that is, Greater Sudbury has agreed to calculate the difference between the methodology that they used for depreciation and using the half year rule.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  GREATER SUDBURY HAS AGREED TO CALCULATE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE METHODOLOGY THAT THEY USED FOR DEPRECIATION AND USING THE HALF YEAR RULE

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

Now I wonder if I can turn to -- it would be useful to keep 221, page 8 available.  It doesn't need to be up on the screen, but that is important, 10,868,525 is an important number.  That is the capital spending you are asking this Board to approve; right?



Okay.  So I wonder if you can go to School Energy Coalition interrogatory appendix 9(c).

MS. NOWINA:  What was the interrogatory number, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MS. NOWINA:  The interrogatory number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Appendix --

MS. NOWINA:  Interrogatory No. 9, appendix C?

MR. SHEPHERD:  They were actually, the appendices were actually numbered, related to the interrogatories but put in separately.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is headed up:
"In camera session.  Minutes of meeting of the board of directors of Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc."


MS. SEBALJ:  I was trying to provide some assistance there because it is varied.  It is not after question 9 which you would expect.  All of the appendices are behind the answers to the interrogatories.

MS. SPOEL:  All we have to look for is look for appendix C.

MS. SEBALJ:  Appendix 9(c).

MS. NOWINA:  And our binders are by date of filing, so this would be part of the March 19th interrogatory filing?

MR. SHEPHERD: Yes, yes.  But sadly, it is a very big stack of stuff, the pages are not numbered.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I put on the screen exactly what it looks like.

MS. NOWINA:  Then we will look at it on the screen, Mr. Buonaguro.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is only two pages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There will be more later.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is eventually about 100 pages.

Leave that on the screen, but I would like you to turn to a letter written by the company on June 12th, 2009, signed by Ms. Koski, I think.  Actually I could be wrong.

No.  Signed by Mr. Pawlowicz.

I hope that is in the Board Members' binder, June 12th, and I am looking at the last page.  Do you have that up now?  I am looking at the very last page of the attachments.  Okay.

So this is a motion of your board of directors; right?  It is dated October 2nd, 2008.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that correct?  What it says is that your Board has approved a 15.3 increase in operation, maintenance and administration costs in the 2009 rate application?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Okay.  Now can you turn to the other exhibit, 9(c), SEC 9(c), appendix 9(c).

This is also a motion of your board; right?

MR. REEVES:  Do you have the whole thing, Nancy?

MR. SHEPHERD: Would it be easier if I waited and gave the Board Members time to find it?

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Sebalj, have you found it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is page 1559 of 2400.

MS. NOWINA:  You went through and numbered them?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, it is your number?  I take that back.  We had this problem in the technical conference because none of this stuff has been numbered.

I apologize.  I apologize to the Board Panel for this.  I actually was putting together a package of materials for my cross-examination, as I normally try to do, but when Mr. Sidlofsky on Tuesday said he was splitting up the panel, I had to completely rethink my cross and none of it worked together anymore.  So I couldn't put together the package of materials.  I apologize.

So this one dated January 26th, 2009, this is not to do with your rate application; right?  This is your actual budget for the year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is an extract from our actual operating budget, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just going to the second page there, and it says that the capital budget that's approved, the net, which is after that $965,000 of contributions, is 9,068,549.  Do you see that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what you are actually authorized by your board of directors to spend this year; isn't that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Within the calendar year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you've asked this Board to approve ten-million-eight-sixty-eight, which is a $1.8 million difference.

And I take it - tell me whether this is correct - the reason for that is that while you might not actually spend that ten-million-eight-sixty-eight in the calendar year, you will spend it by April 30th next year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so when you said -- we were talking about that fixed asset continuity schedule, and you said that those closing balances were December 31st, 2009.  That's not correct, is it, because that includes the whole ten-million-eight-sixty-eight, and, as you know, you're not going to be able to spend that all before the end of this year, are you?  In fact, your board doesn't allow you to?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  This particular year is sort of an anomaly from an operating perspective and a rate year in itself.

We deferred certain expenditures on the basis that the Board has not ruled.  We do not have a rate order in effect.  So we adjusted our operating budget to meet those criteria.  Our intention would have been, had this rate order that's before the Board and being considered here been approved, that we would go back to the Board and we would make the amendments and adjustments that are required.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, what you said in the technical conference is you thought you might not get everything you asked for, and that's why you asked for less from your board of directors; isn't that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is my terminology.  The underlying foundation was what I just said.  You know, we are here at the pleasure of the Board, and there may be adjustments that are forthcoming that I wasn't aware of.

We submitted an application that we felt was prudent, met all of our objectives and hoped that the Board would indulge us in approving everything that we had asked for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you went to your own board of directors, you asked for less?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We deferred certain items so that we could meet our operating targets within our calendar year as we report to our board of directors.

We have obligations to earn a rate of return on behalf of our shareholder, and that is based on a calendar year.  So we make those kinds of decisions and operating changes in our operating budget for that period.

The rate period, as we understood it to be, was from May 1st to the end of April of the subsequent year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Rate Handbook, the Board's rules for filing applications of this sort, you believe says that you put your expenses in from May 1st to April 30th?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would like to reiterate my previous answer that adjustments would be made.  The operating plan was based on what we could attain and what we would deliver to December 31st.  Subject to the Board's -- the Ontario Energy Board's approval, we would go back, submit amended financials, forecasts to our board at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were asked in the technical conference whether there was some written presentation or something to the board of directors, and you said, no, it is all oral.  It is all discussion, except for what you filed here.

So I looked in this to see whether it says somewhere that this budget is subject to what you get from the OEB, and it doesn't say that anywhere, does it?

MR. REEVES:  In writing somewhere?  I don't know that it says that, but that is certainly the explanation that we have given our board.  I mean, we filed the application approval motion that was approved, I believe, in November.  You had it up a moment ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  October.

MR. REEVES:  October.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let's just go back to that, then, because that says that the board of directors approve a 15.3 percent increase in operating, maintenance and administrative costs to be included in the 2009 rate application.  So I don't see anything there about capital, do you?

MR. REEVES:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in fact, what your Board has approved is you can spend $9 million on capital; isn't that right?

MR. REEVES:  Subject to revision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, no.  Sorry.  Your board didn't say subject to revision, did they?

MR. REEVES:  Well, that's a given.

When we need to, we go back to our board with revisions, as Mr. Pawlowicz has explained.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So, Mr. Pawlowicz, in your direct evidence you said that -- you were very clear on this, that you will spend this year all of the 2009 capital and operating spending that you put in this application.

That is not true, is it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In a calendar year?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You didn't mean in the calendar year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would have to agree with that statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I wonder is -- I am just looking at the capital expenditures at this point.  We will talk about the operating expenditures in another panel when you will have another opportunity to talk about this.

And that is -- can you do two things for us, please?  The first is for the capital spending, can you give us a six and six on the capital spending for calendar 2009; that is, six months actual and six-month forecast broken down the same way you put it in the application by the various categories?  You must know what you spent in the first six months of the year.

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you tell us what you spent so far by category, and then what you forecast to spend in the next six months by category?

If you have any approvals for adjustments to your original $9 million budget that affects that six and six, could you provide those, as well?  So that is the first undertaking.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am not going to repeat it, because I think it is clear on the record, but it is J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  To provide six-month actual and six-month forecast of capital spending broken down into the various categories in application.

MR. SHEPHERD: Then the second undertaking is, can you provide us with a -- actually, before I get to the second undertaking --

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.  I'm sorry.  I don't see on the transcript that the applicant agreed to provide it.  I am trying to close the loop here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, will you provide that undertaking?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Before I get to the next undertaking, still on this meeting minutes.

If you go -- I am thinking about ten pages on, you see 2009 capital Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc., it is a spreadsheet which sets out how you got to the $9,068,000.  Do you have that?

Okay?  What I would like you to do, if you could, is this doesn't include some things that you have in the budget that you put to this Board; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  True.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?  Did you say yes?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, it's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for some things you have spending in here of a different amount than you had in the application to this Board; right?  So can you, please, give us a side by side of the budget that your board has approved, that is this one here, right, this is the one your board has approved?  Is that correct?  Sorry you have to verbalize for the transcript.

MR. McMILLAN:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A side by side of this, and what you have asked for, in all of these categories or in any additional categories, from the Board in this application.  Can you do that?  So we can see the 10,868,000 side by side to the 9,068,000.

MR. McMILLAN:  As an undertaking, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHRD:  Yes, please.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD: Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO PROVIDE A SIDE BY SIDE OF THE BUDGET Approved by Sudbury's BOARD AND WHAT YOU HAVE ASKED FOR IN THIS APPLICATION, by CATEGORy


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just as an aside, before we leave this, two pages -- three pages earlier.  No, sorry, I lied.  Five pages earlier is your capital budget resolution for 2008.  Do you see that?

Do you see that?  Particularly if you can read very small type, you can see it on the screen.

Now, in this you had net expenditures approved of 6,306,000.  And you actually spent a different amount at the end of the year, right, a lesser amount, six million, one, something.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you spend less you don't have to go back to your board for approval; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  That is true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can defer projects for example, that's okay, you don't need board approval for that.

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say that is true.

MR. SHEPHERD: If you went over what they approved you would have to go back to them for approval; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say that is also true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven’t gone back to your board for approval of an increase this year, have you?

MR. McMILLAN:  Over the $9 million?  Over the $9 million that was in the previous document?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. PAWLOWICZ: No, we have not.

MR. McMILLAN:  No, not as yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2008, because you under-spent to your budget by a little bit, you didn't have to go back to your board for a change in your capital budget, did you?

MR. McMILLAN:  For 2008?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Let me ask you to -- I am going to talk about a couple of individual projects, but let me just ask you to talk about a more general issue, and that is capitalized labour.

It would be useful if you could turn up Board Staff interrogatory number 27 because there is a very helpful chart in there.  Do you have that document?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Is the reference Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 6, page 2?

MR. SHEPHERD: The reference is -- that's right.  I am actually looking at section D, which is on page 40 of those materials.  That's it.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have it?  This is the chart that Mr. Buonaguro has put up on the screen.  I take it what this is is, some of your labour costs are capitalized and some of your labour costs are operating; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're pretty well all in the affiliate.  They're not in the hydro company; right?  Except for two people?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you treat them as basically hydro expenses?  Pretty well.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  No trick in that question.  I wanted to just clarify it.

You then have to split them up between capitalized and operating costs.  And then some of them are recoverable and then some of them are applied to the affiliates; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD: So at this point, all I want to talk about is the first two lines in this chart, which is the total compensation.  I am correct, am I not, that over those three years your total compensation has gone up more than 20 percent; is that right?  A million 572, on 7.7 million?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD: Okay.  I think I heard you say somewhere that your increase as a result of union contracts and annual costs of living increases and all of those sort of things is around nine percent or nine and a half over those three years; is that right?  Am I in the ballpark anyway?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, you are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the other 10 percent, let's call it, is more people?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have increased your complement, is that fair, by about 10 percent?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We had a complement of 89 individuals in the year 2006.  At the end of 2009, we will have 99 individuals.  So there is an increase of ten persons.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is about 11 percent.  Some of those are less expensive than your average because they're apprentices and people like that.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You haven't had any growth, any appreciable growth in your load or your customer numbers; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is all to either improve your infrastructure and quality of service, or to do succession planning?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  The foundation behind that is, though, when we corporatized and we go back to the year 2000 and 1999, we had a complement at that time of 114 persons running the Sudbury operations at the scope and scale that they were at that time.

Through the reorganization process, through the transition board process which are processes that we had undertaken, we offered an incentive for individuals to leave.

We had scoped out that ten persons would leave.  In actual fact, 22 left at that particular time under that program.

So the point I am making is that we started out at a very low complement of staff to meet the objectives of the utility.  As the complexities changed over each of those years, we have added resources to meet those requirements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to get into how many people you need when we talk about OM&A, but right now I am just trying to get a fix on the capital component.

From a management point of view, whether a person is working on a capital project or an operating -- doing operating stuff, you still have to pay them; right?  They still have the same sort of cost.  It is about an internal allocation of the resource; true?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that changes from year to year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, for example, from 2007 to 2008 you had a $600,000 increase in capitalized labour costs; right?

So does that mean there would be a $600,000 reduction in OM&A labour costs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That possibility does exist, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not what actually happened; right?  In fact, that went up?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  If the Board would permit, we would like to undertake to respond to that question with some computations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I guess I'm looking at the chart.  It says, compensation charged to OM&A 2007 to 2008, it was the same.  So I am not sure I understand what -- this is the same chart that we have up, right here.

Take a look at the bottom, compensation charged to OM&A seven-o-four-seven, seven-o-four-nine.  So you had a $620,000 increase in capitalized, but OM&A stayed the same.

So I am not sure what you need to calculate.  If you need to, that's fine.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Your statement is fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what that meant is you were already starting to ramp up your capital spending, presumably, and so you had to have a massive amount of additional personnel working on capital projects; is that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Not necessarily.  We contract capital projects, as well, especially line work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but we know you added 150 percent to your capitalized labour in one year.  So I am looking for why.  Do you know why?

MR. McMILLAN:  That's the component we are going to undertake, with the indulgence of...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that would be very helpful.  So you are going to undertake to provide an explanation of the increase in capitalized labour from 2007 to 2008?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  to Provide an explanation of the increase in capitalized labour from 2007 to 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Madam Chair, you did want to break at 12 sharp, and I am at a natural break in my cross.  If you would like to break now, I am happy to do so.

MS. SPOEL:  That would be fine.  We will resume at one o'clock.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:55 a.m.


--- On resuming at 1:00 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought I had been cut off here.  For the benefit of the Members of the Panel, I probably have about 30 more minutes, and Mr. Buonaguro and I have agreed that after he is finished or this panel is finished, he will go first on OM&A so that I can rest.

A couple of sort of general questions about your capital plan, witnesses.

On the first, I wanted you to go to Board Staff 32(a) which is page 56 of 90 of the original Board Staff IR responses.

It is page 56.  It's 32(a), right at the end of 32(a).  There is a heading "capital programs," do you see that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it talks about the two categories of discretionary -- of projects you have, non-discretionary and critical.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't sound like much of a gradation to me.  It sounds like you sort of have to do everything.  You have no category that's anything less than critical?

MR. McMILLAN:  There has not been ...

This is interrogatories?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay, take me back to the original evidence.

I would refer you to Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, this is in appendix A -- appendix A, at appendix 2.  It is the Distribution System Rolling Plan that was started in the year 2000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, what page number is it?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, there's not really a page.  It is right after the capital asset management plan which is appendix A, that flows into appendix 2, which is the old capital plan that was done in the year 2000.

I don't see a page.

MS. SPOEL:  So I've got Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A which is called appendix 1, distribution system capital budget proposed three-year plan.  Then that has some nice coloured graphs.  Three pages along is appendix 2.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Which is part of appendix A?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.  That is what we're looking for.

MS. NOWINA:  That's the distribution system rolling planning?

MR. McMILLAN:  That's the one.  The 2001 to 2005 rolling plan.  In page (ii) of that appendix, right there, you will see that in days gone by -- have you got it Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD: No, but that's okay, it is on the screen.

MR. McMILLAN:  In days gone by we had category N, category A, category B.  Category B was the same criteria set forth in category A but at the present are not critical to the operation of the utility.  Pardon me.

Category C which was commissioned discretionary items.  Those categories existed -- exist still, but we have never had enough funding to be able to get projects that flow in category B.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have never had a project that -- you said while we should do that, but you know when we have an appropriate time, whenever there is something that isn't critical you have to wait until it is critical to do it?

MR. McMILLAN:  That's been our experience in the last number of years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then back to the Board Staff IR responses.  Page 58 of those responses, two pages on from where I was looking, the question you were asked is -- which is actually still on page 56 is:  Can you reduce your capital expenditures given the fact you are in an economic downturn?  Your answer on page 58 is:  Except for the porcelain insulator replacement program, no, you can't reduce anything.

Is that still your evidence?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you went to your board of directors you did reduce things; right?  So it is not that you can't.  It is you choose not to?

MR. McMILLAN:  The projects that are listed are critical.  And that's what we define them as.  But being a realist there are -- there is only so much money that I have to spend in a given year.  As I said in evidence earlier, if I have a list of critical projects and I get a statutory project, I am going to have to bump one of those, as well.

So there is some timing capabilities in the critical projects, and given the amounts of monies that we were working with when we went to our board for capital, yes, we made decisions to not include some those critical projects in this calendar year, pending the outcome of these proceedings.

If we receive our authority for rate increases, deferral accounts, et cetera, then we will most certainly go back to our board and say, We have to go ahead with those projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See I -- and I am not sure whether this is the right time to raise this or whether it is better talking about it during OM&A but I will raise it here and if you want to defer it that's fine.

It would seem to me that if you have to do something, if it's operationally necessary, then regardless of what your rates are, you have to do it.  And you have to say to your shareholder, Look sorry we can't make as much money because this has to get done.  Don't you ever do that?

MR. McMILLAN:  You would do that in the case of a severe storm, where you have a conductor on the ground and customers out of service.  But short of -- or you might do that, in a safety-related issue, where something comes up, and I would point out as an example this past spring Toronto Hydro - and I think everyone here will be aware of it - has gone around and spent a significant amount of time and resources doing work on hand-hold covers that were coming up an energized and they quit doing everything else.  So I think you would and could and do from time to time do make those decisions, but they're exceptional decisions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess when I look at the list of capital projects that you propose for approval from this Board, are some of those in the category where you would say:  That has to get done and if the shareholder has to make less money in order for us to do this, that's fine.  That's okay?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Would you repeat that question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If your choice is:  Reduce the dividend to the shareholder or do the project -- sorry.  Pay the dividend to the shareholder in full or do the project, if you are forced to make that choice, are there projects on the list that you would say, no, we do the project and if the shareholder gets less, nothing we can do about it?

MR. REEVES:  Well, perhaps I can answer part of that.  And you know then I will ask Stan or Brian or Nancy to help me.  But first of all, our shareholder doesn't get a dividend; right?  It's an interest payment on a debt with the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that is a capital issue.  We will get to that but I understand, okay.

MR. REEVES:  And we look at that no different than if we owed TD Bank the money and we have to pay the interest.  So until you make that interest payment, you're not even breaking even.  It's a debt.  It's an outstanding debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but the only reason you have that interest payment, the debt, is because you've chosen to use a tax-efficient way of financing your utility, instead of the way the Board has stipulated in its capital policy decisions; right?  You have chosen to have 100 percent debt; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We're not at 100 percent debt, but...

MR. REEVES:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have chosen to have a very high ratio?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So to say, Well, now we have to pay it because it is debt, that's not the reason you did it; right?  You did it to save taxes?

MR. REEVES:  The shareholder has the opportunity, though, to monetize that debt, in which case we would owe the TD Bank, you know, $48 million or whatever the exact number is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am driving at --

MR. REEVES:  That's happened at other utilities, hasn't it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed, it would be great.  What I am trying to drive at here is I am trying to understand the prioritization between these capital projects, because you've said the capital projects are, We have to do them.  You're telling this Board, We have to do these.

But it seems to me that you're telling your shareholder, We have to do them only after we have paid you your interest.  If we don't have any money left over, these projects aren't important enough to still do them.  Isn't that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I wouldn't address it as boldly as you have.  I can see how you are reaching those kinds of conclusions, possibly, but we are operating a business.  It has certain resources available to it.  There are expectations of MARR, and I think the rules allow us to earn those rates of return.  We generate so much working capital out of that particular utility and we try to operate within those bounds.

I think that what Brian has said, if we got into an emergency situation, a safety situation, I would say that I would strongly, strongly recommend to my boss, and he to the board of directors, that we augment and supplement that plan, and we would have a contingency, immediate reactionary plan under those circumstances.

Otherwise, we do comprehensive work.  We outline a plan.  The priorities are ranked as to the work that we will undertake, and we live within those guidelines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if this Board were to say to you your capital spending budget is 9 million, what your own board of directors said, $9,068,000, then you would operate within that; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we would.  If an emergency arose or safety issue, and we had to go above that because all of the funds are committed, we would return back to our board of directors to address that particular issue, and we would go out for external borrowing, or however we would have to, to cash flow that particular isolated incident.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your shareholder would still get their money?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  If there were scope, yes.  The interest payment is an interest payment.  It is an absolute obligation.  As Doug alluded, if it were monetized, I certainly couldn't avoid paying the Toronto-Dominion Bank or OMERS pension plan, if that was the source of the funds.  The interest would be payable in those circumstances.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your percentage of debt?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In totality, we're about 70 percent debt.  On the presentation of the budget, it increases, because there is $12 million of new debt coming on.  So our debt ratio would go up to the 80/20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Eight/twenty?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you monetized your debt, you in fact wouldn't do it at 80/20, because the bank wouldn't give you 80 percent, would it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would RFP that particular opportunity, and my gut feeling and the indications that we received from the bank, providing that suitable guarantees from our parent and our shareholder were in place, that we could exceed that ratio.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, thank you.

Okay.  Let me turn to -- we talked about moving projects around year to year, and there is a couple of components of that I just want to see if I understand correctly.

So let's start with School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 10, sub L.  This is on page 34 of your SEC IR responses.

MS. WHISSELL:  Can you please repeat the reference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is SEC 10, sub L on page 34 of your original SEC IR responses.  It is a chart that says 2009 projects included in the 2001 to 2005 capital plan.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So by my calculation, these projects -- let me understand this.  You had a plan that you did in 2000 for the 2001 to 2005 period; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  When there were 114 people at the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in that plan, you had some projects that you were going to do in that five-year period?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of those projects, there is $2.5 million, by my add, of those projects that have been deferred already for five, six, seven, eight years that you want to do in 2009; is that right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So tell us why suddenly these projects are appropriate for this year?

MR. McMILLAN:  I think "suddenly", again, is probably a word that I wouldn't choose to use.

If you think about that 2000 capital rolling plan as it was created at that time -- I will take a minute just to confer with my colleagues.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  I think I would like to go back to that plan, that rolling capital plan that was developed in -- as I recall, dated in February 2000.

At that point in time, the utility in February of 2000 had approximately 113, 114 employees, including about 23 line staff.

After the voluntary separation was completed, and certainly in 2002 when I joined the utility, we were down to 15 line staff, okay?

The resources to complete these projects, as contemplated over the five-year window of that plan, simply weren't there.  They just weren't there.

I think that your point is somewhat salient to, you know, why magically now are they just burningly important to do is one view you could take of it, but I tend to take the view that all of this is a slow, steady rot on the system.

And we are building up a backlog of this rot, and to sit here in this venue and tell you in absolute, unequivocal, swear-on-a-Bible terms that they have to, have to, have to, have to be done in any given time period would be wrong.

There is always some room for some movement.  But you can't put them off forever.  The plant is going to fail.  If I had a magic ball, crystal ball, and I could tell you what was going to fail next month, we would do that project this month, and so on and so on and so on, but I can't tell you.  No one can.

I can tell you that all of these projects are good projects.  They're full of old end-of-life plant.  They need to be done.  We need to ramp up.


Again, if you go back to the capital asset management plan and look at it and use it as your foundation, we are seriously underfunding our capital expenditures.  Now, you can argue we don't need to do them this year, you can argue we don't need to do them next year, you can argue we don't need to do them in a give period of time but we need to spend more money on our assets or they're going to be, as we described earlier, the roads of Sudbury is going to be the distribution system of Sudbury.

And if this body and you and everyone else can't see fit to help us to get to that point where we're able to keep our system in the shape that it needs to be and deserves to be kept in, we only get that opportunity right now when we are able to come and talk in front of this hearing and that's what we are trying to do that.  Trying to put that out there that now is the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many projects were there in the 2001 to 2005 capital plan?  Do you know?

MR. McMILLAN:  I can't give you an exact number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here's why I ask because you've got ten listed here and they're numbered from A1 to A 21, so I am guessing are those numbers from the original plan?

MR. McMILLAN:  No, sir.  When we make each capital budget year, we give each one like a N number and an A number for that year.

MR. SHEPHERD: Oh, okay.  So these were A, that means they're critical but not non-discretionary.  They were in those years?

MR. McMILLAN:  If you were to turn to that plan --

MR. SHEPHERD:  The old plan?

MR. McMILLAN:  The old plan which is in appendix A, appendix 2 which we were in earlier and look at each one of those plans, you will not see them described in any way, shape or form as an A, B, N or anything else, they're simply described as project within that plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this numbering is from within the plan.

MR. McMILLAN:  This numbering is the number we use when we pull the plan out, when we pull the project out of the plan, we have to say, well where are we going to put it in our budget.  So we have chosen to put these in as As.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But there is ten of them, anyway?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is, tell me whether I am right, this is something like 30 percent of the work you were going to do in that period?  Am I right in the right ballpark?

MR. McMILLAN:  Oh.  Of the original plan?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  No.  I think you would be low.  If I went back and pulled that plan out and added up everything in it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your plan had about $17 -- no $21 million over the five years of spending and you didn't do 21 million.

MR. McMILLAN:  Let me find out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did 16.

MR. McMILLAN:  That sounds about right.  So you're saying this totals to -– two...

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually not.  This is actually more like about, yeah, 15 percent of what you actually did.

MR. McMILLAN:  Of what we did that was named within the plan?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  Not of what we actually did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  So this is a big move.  This is a lot of stuff moved out of your old plan into your new plan; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then let me ...

MR. REEVES:  Could I shed some further light on that, possibly?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be helpful.

MR. REEVES:  Because I wanted to talk about the financial situation at the time, and earlier you referred to us getting our MARR and it relates to this ability to do work because if we don't have the money you can't do the work.

What happened is that our first board of directors decided that we weren't going to apply for MARR, that they were going to keep rates down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVES:  And so we didn't and we didn't the second year.  Then of course things were frozen.  So you know, this created this back -- partly created this backlog of capital work.

Part of the plan was, you don't get a rate increase.  You don't apply for a rate increase.  What you do instead is cut your work force, which we did.  We had a voluntary exit package and reduced the work force by 22 people.

Now, we then took on additional distribution facilities, like the town of Falconbridge and so our resources have become very stretched.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your rates did increase in 1999-2000, right, because you had the interest you had to pay to the city?

MR. REEVES:  No.  In fact in those – Stan, jump in any time because you know I am not great with numbers, but we did not make the full interest payment to the city for the first three years of our -- after incorporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You caught it up later?  Or it is still owing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Still owing, it is still outstanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But my question was, your rates did increase in 1999-2000; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I don't believe so, because it was predicated on your capital structure, your operating budget.  As a commission, in essence, it just rolled over.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Let me turn to -- I am looking now at page 59 of your responses to Board Staff interrogatories.  This is Interrogatory No. 33.

MS. WHISSELL:  One second.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were asked -- you're going to do all of this capital spending.  What's going to help approve your SQIs? And you have this long list of stuff that's going to help improve your SQIs.  So I assume that none of this kicks in this year?

MR. McMILLAN:  I don't understand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These I am profits in your service quality indicators, none of them kick in this year, right, because you are starting this year, your enhanced capital program.

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, I guess I see that somewhat differently than the way you are characterizing it.

What I see is this is like a safety program.  And I can't show you the accident that I prevented, and I can't show you, through this program the outage it will have prevented.  But I think that doing these projects, as named, will prevent unplanned outages in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD: Okay.  So here is why I asked that question is, on page 64 of your responses to those Board Staff interrogatories, this is IR 37(c), you quote your -- well, you quote the numbers for 2006, 2007 and 2008 for your three main service quality indicators.

Each of the 2008 numbers, each of them, you are better than the North American average.  The North American average for SAIDI is 1.5, you are 1.4.  For CAIDI, it is 1.36, you are 1.29.  SAIFI, it is 1.10, you are 1.09.

So that doesn't look like a utility that is falling apart and we're in trouble.  Was that an unusual year?  Or what's the story?

MR. McMILLAN:  No, I don't think it was an unusual year.  I don't think you could characterize it that way at all.

I think when you look at these three years, you can see that it is moving, okay.

I would ... original evidence?

MS. WHISSELL:  Original evidence.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  I would refer everyone to Exhibit 2.  Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, the capital asset management plan.

In that plan on pages 26 of 35 and 27 of 35 you will see some expansion on the SAIDI and SAIFI and you will see they're up and down.  They're very -- they're moving.  They're very moving.  So a typical year, I am not sure I can define a typical year for you.  Sometimes we have some major failures.  Some years we don't.

What the objective of a good maintenance program and good capital plan is to try to foresee where those may occur, to try to evaluate the risk of the failure and the consequence of the failure, and get that done, get that element of your system replaced in the perfect world just before it fails.

In an imperfect world, as soon as reasonably you could believe that it should be replaced.

MR. SHEPHERD: I understand you, Mr. McMillan.  I guess what I'm trying to nail down here is all morning we have talked about this as if there was an underinvestment in the system over the course of the last decade, say, or something.

And you need to spend a lot more money to catch up and I don't know whether you did this intentionally, but you appear, to me at least, to have painted a picture of a system that's in disrepair, or not a very good system.  And this doesn't look like it is any worse than any -- than the average one we see around the province.  Is it really in bad shape or is it normal, but you want to keep it that way?

MR. McMILLAN:  I think the concern that I'm trying to raise, the flag that I am trying to raise -- and I recognize what you are saying, Mr. Shepherd.  Like, I'm struggling with portraying this fairly and adequately to everyone in this room.

It is a problem, because when you look at the age of our system, when I consider the major components, our substations, for example, a significant number of our substations are very old compared to other utilities.  They aren't going to last forever.

I feel in my gut, I feel in my bones that we are going to have some major failures if we don't spend some money on critical elements like that.

I can look at lines and poles, and through this process of going through here -- this process of going through this capital asset plan really cemented my feelings in this matter.

Average age of our wood poles is significantly higher than you will find in some other utilities.  Not all other utilities, but some other utilities.

These factors, in my mind, may not be showing up in our SAIDI, SAIFI right now, but I feel very strongly that our statistics, if we continue with the current level of investment, are going to worsen over time and worsen significantly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the engineer in you looking at your system and saying not, I have been hit by a train, but I can see the train coming down the track?

MR. McMILLAN:  This is where I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I get it.  All right.  Let me turn to just a couple of quick finishing items.

The first is with respect to your new CIS.  This relates to water billing.  You use the CIS -- you are going to use this new CIS for both electricity billing and water billing; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are going to talk about how you bill for water and all of that sort of stuff later, and I am sure you are looking forward to it, but I just want to ask you a specific question about the capital side of that, and that is, in your response to School Energy Coalition IR number B, number 15 on page 37 of your responses, there is a whole lot of subsections to this.  On page 37, this is referring to the CIS.  This is in sub (viii); do you see that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were asked how the city is going to pay for getting the use of this new CIS, and your answer is, They're not.

So help us to understand why they don't have to pay for this new CIS or share in the payment?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We entered into a contract with the city in the year 2003 and it had a life of ten years.  Concurrent with entering into that contract, or just prior thereto, we made the investment in the advanced utility billing system, did all of the conversion, and that system was purchased to meet the deregulated electricity market, had the capability of billing for water.

We entered into that contract understanding that we had a brand new system in place that met the deregulated electricity market, as well as water billing capabilities.

The contract has a life of ten years.  I simply do not have a mechanism in the short -- as a short answer, to go back to the city to say, Well, our world has changed - those provisions weren't as part of that contract, which is on file - to say our world has changed, I can no longer live up to that particular contract.

 MR. SHEPHERD:  That contract -- you talked about that contract, I think, in the technical conference.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes I did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As I understand your characterization, it wasn't so much an arm's-length negotiation as the city simply told you, This is the fair number, this is what we're going to pay?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I will expand on that in a subsequent presentation.  I will outline exactly the processes that we went through.  The negotiations were based on what I am going to determine as the fair market value of the service to the city, okay?  We're negotiating now as a third party.

If someone shows you the books - the books are a public record for the city - their billing costs of running their system at that particular time were X number of dollars, which happened to be in the range of $1 million -- it was in the $900,000 -- to run their department.

A committee was struck, and this all revolves around the transition board and the reorganization of Sudbury, and the utility and that world struck committees.

The committees were looking for synergies and opportunities to lower costs collectively for the City of Greater Sudbury in this new reconfigured fashion.  That committee made a determination that there were synergies and savings, and those savings identified were primarily in the mailing costs, postage, meter reading, exactly, and of that nature.  And there was $300,000 worth of those items of savings, potential savings.

So the price was -- it is fair market value.  At least the committees at that time, it equated fair market value to what the city's current costs were.

So if you dump that, that left us with a net of $700,000, and that's how we arrived at the billing service.  At that time, there were significant costs of data conversion.  There was the investment in advanced utility systems, and those costs were borrowed by the city on a one-time basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am looking now, again, at your letter of June 16th -- June 12th, sorry, June 12th, that I think you signed.  I am on page 2 of that letter.

Now, you just said that the price was set originally based on fair market value.  Here is what you said in your letter:
"Under the Affiliate Relationships Code, clause 2.3.3, then in effect, the transfer price was to be set as follows where a fair market value is not available.  Fair market value was not available in our circumstances for any product, resource or service, a utility shall charge no less than a cost-based price and shall pay no more than a cost-based price."

So you set the price based on costs, right, not based on fair market value?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REEVES:  That Affiliate Relationships Code applies to -- if I have it correct, the relationship between wiresco and servicesco.

What we are talking about here is a cost of billing, because, you know, in earlier conversations with yourselves, you have talked about allocation of costs between water and hydro, and a fully allocated cost.

What we are talking about here is that Affiliate Relationships Code wasn't in place at the time of entering into the water billing contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is still outstanding for Mr. Pawlowicz, and it is his letter and in his letter talking about the contract with the City of Sudbury for water billing, not inter-affiliate transactions.  Talking about that, he said, It's based on cost, because we didn't have fair market value.  Today under oath you said it was based on fair market value.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I said I equated the costs from the information that I had from the city, which was their costs, to be the fair market value of those services --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  -- is what my testimony was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it wasn't set on fair market value, then.  It was set on the city's costs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Which I equate as being the fair market value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you say fair market is not available in our circumstances, you mean a fair market value in the sense of a price out there in the market?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly, that it was not determined in that particular fashion with a tendering RFP process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is true, isn't it, that you made no attempt to comply with the Affiliate Relationships Code at the time you entered into this contract, did you?


MR. REEVES:  Well, I think that is a good point, and I am glad that you have raised it, because we have talked about that, you know, because, yes, the affiliate -- I know the Affiliate Relationships Code existed, but prior to -- I am going to say 2005 or 2006, when we were approached by the OEB about affiliate relationship issues, that Code lied dormant.

And there were a whole number of utilities, I am going to say, in my opinion, operating outside of the Affiliate Relationship Code.  So it was dormant at that time, in my opinion.

MS. NOWINA:  What do you mean by dormant, sir?

MR. REEVES:  Dormant?  There was no compliance department.  We had no -- nobody coming from the OEB to say what about this, what about that?

When you have one of these codes, they have to be interpreted to be understood.  And so it was, I will say, lying dormant at the time.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I will also add to the record here that these transactions were not executed, consummated, without external legal advice and counsel.

You know, our service level agreements, all of these contracts were reviewed by a firm that specialized in the area of regulation and the deregulation concepts that were sort of being phased in and being developed since it was a dynamic world that we were facing.

So in all fairness to myself, I believe that we complied with our determinations and understandings and what other parties at that time knew of the Affiliate Relationships Code.  You know, since then there have been countless changes and adjustments, and we increased our knowledge base as a utility as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And believe me there's no intention here to beat you over the head for what happened in 2004.  We're talking about what is appropriate in 2009.  The history is only relevant as context to that.

What we are trying to figure out is -- your argument is, We have a ten-year contract we can't do anything about, we're stuck.

And what I am trying to figure out is, if it was compliant with ARC at the time, then maybe you have an argument.  But if it was a non-compliant contract, it's hard for you to argue today, Well, but you should still let it go.  You should have complied in the first place with the rules.

So that's what I am trying to figure out.  You had counsel advise you that it was okay, that it was compliant?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am going to say in the general sphere of everything that was happening, my belief was that we were in compliance with all of the requirements and I can say that I was no expert at that time, but I don't believe there were a lot of experts.  And since we did have, I am going to say, the name brand firm, advising us as a utility, that there had to have been a level of confidence and comfort.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had an opinion letter of some sort saying this is a compliant contract.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  I could not draw that --

MR. REEVES:  No.  No.  But don't forget, or I would remind you that the contract is between the service company and the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which means?

MR. REEVES:  To the best of my knowledge, ARC primarily applies between the wiresco and affiliates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a back-to-back contract, isn't it?

MR. REEVES:  A back-to-back contract?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is to say the utility is paying the rest of it, right?  So this is about how you share the costs between, of the billing and collection costs between water billing and electricity; right?  And the fact that you are going through an affiliate really doesn't matter.  You are still sharing, aren't you?

MR. REEVES:  All I'm saying is that from a contractual point of view, the water billing contracts isn't with the wiresco.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We are sort of getting into the OM&A part of this and we will talk about that later, because there are some numbers we have to get at.  But I think you have made your explanation, that's fine.

MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd.  The letter that is on the screen, where is that on the record?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MS. NOWINA:  This document that is on the screen, where is that in the record?

MR. SHEPHERD: I don't know whether it is in the record.  It is a letter that is on file in the web drawer, and I don't know whether it has an exhibit number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is the company's submissions on procedure pursuant to procedural order 5.  You can see on the top of the screen “Sudbury Hydro_comment_PO5_20090616.” It is in the Webdrawer.

MS. SEBALJ:  In other words, it doesn't have an exhibit number and we should give it one.  So can we mark it, then because I had a similar question.  I couldn't find it in the record, as K1.2, which is I am trying to give it context here without a title.  The Sudbury Hydro comment pursuant to Procedural Order No. 5 which is a letter dated June 12, 2009, from Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. to the Board secretary.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SUDBURY HYDRO COMMENT PURSUANT TO PROCEDURAL ORDER NO. 5 WHICH IS A LETTER DATED JUNE 12, 2009, FROM GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO INC. TO THE BOARD SECRETARY

MS. SPOEL:  I expect we have copies of it somewhere, but if there is a convenient moment perhaps at a break to make copies for us, so we can keep them with the rest of our materials, that would be very helpful.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it is helpful to the Board, the letter response to the issues raised during the technical conference and without describing the ADR, obviously discussed in the ADR too, by making submissions as well on those things as, in addition to making submissions on procedure.

Hence why it is useful here, because it becomes their position on what happened.

So my last question then relates to, relates also to the billing system.  I am still in the SEC IR responses, and we were on page 37 a second ago.  Now we are on page 41.  This is SEC IR 15(b).  Do you have that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you've said, as I understand it, you were asked the question if you're spending all of this money on capital for a new CIS, why is your OM&A going up?

Your answer, as I take it, is there is more functionality.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The answer revolves around just the basic system.  SAP has connotations of being the premier product that is on the market that's available.

A lot of the costs that are driving OM&A revolve around our proportionate share of the maintenance and support of this extremely complex system that we are implementing as a party to a group called CODAC where we are sharing those costs between ourselves.  And the allocations are working out that our OM&A costs for those items are being driven up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you for one second.  The capital costs associated with the CIS are partly shared and partly you are paying them directly; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  We are paying through the CODAC group for the system, for our proportionate share of the system costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not going to own it.  London Hydro is going to own it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  Under the agreement, we have an environment that is known as the Greater Sudbury Hydro environment.  It emulates the template that was developed, in conjunction with London Hydro and Cambridge Hydro.

London Hydro is acting as the hosting centre for that particular product, but there is a Greater Sudbury environment, and at the end of the five-year term, should this contract expire or terminate or we decide to break it apart, we take all of the rights, all of the licensing, the access to that particular product and we, in turn, would have to build the appropriate infrastructure to drive it, that being the servers, et cetera.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right now the infrastructure, the hardware infrastructure is owned by London Hydro; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are paying them a hosting fee of some sort.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is $150,000 a year or something like that.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In that range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That covers the cost of the hardware --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the connections, and the people to manage it;  right?  Your share of it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Of the system.  The hard system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the software itself, you paid separately for your license?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  As part of the group.  We are going out on an RFP process to secure third party maintenance and support service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I am asking capital costs now.  I'm not asking maintenance and support.  We are still in capital.

The capital costs --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have a separate licence for Sudbury.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are paying SAP and you are paying the service provider for the -- separately?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not a shared cost?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the OM&A, the maintenance and support and all of that stuff, ongoing keeping it up to date, that's going to be a shared cost annually?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And because you are buying what we used to call when I was much younger a Cadillac as opposed to a Volkswagen, because that's -- SAP is that; right?  It is the fancy one?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's the one that we believe meets the needs currently and for the future so that we can avoid a situation like we experienced that drove us to this particular position.

My druthers are that I would be extremely happy to have a supported advanced utility billing system - that is implementing it, that is functioning well - where we had the rug pulled out from under us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  One of the things you've got with SAP is you've got a system that you are pretty confident is going to be around forever.  It will cost you lots of money, but it will have a lot of functionality.  It will be solid as a rock; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I am not disagreeing with you.  The result of this is that you also got additional functionality?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  The functionality capabilities are part of the system.  It's all part of the implementation strategy, the template that we are working collectively on implementing.  Within SAP, you turn on modules.  As you require them, as you grow, as your resources and your capabilities -- that you can activate more functionality, it is available for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but that is not the question I am asking, because you are spending this $2.1 million this year, and so my question is:  You are getting additional functionality for that?

You also have modules that you can turn on and pay more for; right?  That's not what I am asking about.

MR. PAWLOWICZ: No.  Within the modules that we are receiving, there is functionality and capabilities that could still be accessed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Our implementation plan emulates the London template; okay?  Have all of the circumstances and consequences and possibilities been evaluated?  We like to think we have covered them all, but you never do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You do have some modules that you are paying for that you are not going to use immediately, that you are going to phase in?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are those a substantial amount of the cost?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  The SAP pricing module is, whether you are the smallest corporation on earth and you choose to use SAP or the largest, you get the same product.  It's a matter of activating components within it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Are any of those additional functionalities going to drive cost savings in the future?

Let me backtrack for a second.  Normally, when you spend money on capital, you do it for two things -- for three things, either because you want something more that you didn't have before, because something that you have is going to break, or because you want to save some money in the future?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I'm going to say that SAP is -- from the juncture that we're at, SAP is an extremely complex system.

It's difficult to arrive at savings that are driven by making that particular investment; okay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I can't turn around and say that because I bought SAP, I need no billing clerks, or I need one billing clerk rather than two billing clerks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  At some juncture, I hope we get to that point where we have the experience, we have the functionality, the templates are operating.  But at this juncture, it is very much a challenge for us to utilize the capabilities of SAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As you get used to this much better tool, you will find ways to make it more efficient?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  And our future -- the future rate-making process drives that.  You know, we do have that productivity factor that we have to gain.  Hopefully, at least I told my bosses I will attempt to glean some of that productivity savings out of this system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are our questions.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I just have two short questions left, thankfully.

The first actually relates to the opening when you were talking about, I guess, the interim rate order and the effective date of the order that will come out of this hearing.

I was a little confused about what exactly it was that the company was asking for.  Maybe you could repeat that, and then I could follow up.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, basically we are asking to recover the costs of the application, as submitted, back from May 1st as opposed to having an implementation date that might vary from that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So an effective date of May 1st, 2009?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  So within the rate year, I will recover the entire entitlement of the application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  That's despite the fact that the application was filed in December of 2008?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.

Lastly, and this is actually a rate base question, in --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would like to add for the record, though, that the application did go in on December, but subsequent to that all interaction with Board Staff, responses to interrogatories have all been on time and there have been no subsequent delays of any form that were driven by the utility.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just, second, on working capital, in reviewing the application I noticed -- and this I put up on the screen, Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 1, which is basically your paragraph summary of how you did the working capital calculation.

I understand from this, quite simply, you are using the 15 percent OEB formula, if I can call it that; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at the continuity schedules that follow this, I think you have been using the 15 percent figure back to at least 2006?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Have you been using a 15 percent calculation prior to 2006, or if there's something different than what happened in 2006, how have you been calculating your working capital?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have always used the same calculation as prescribed by the Board.  So I am assuming - that 15 percent, from memory, has been around for a long time - that any filing, any filing, any submission that we made to the Board utilized a 15 percent working capital provision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it from that there is no Sudbury-specific review of what an appropriate working capital calculation would be?

For example, I can give you examples of other utilities where they have done specific studies for their own companies and they have come up with figures in the 12 percent, 13 percent range, for example.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have never done so.  We have always utilized the 15 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I can tell you that I personally have not done the calculation or any type of analysis on it.  I simply relied on the 15.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions for this panel.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Ms. Sebalj?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  We, as well, just have a few questions left from Mr. Shepherd's thorough cross-examination.

The first is a rate base question, and the reference is Exhibit 2, -- sorry, yes, Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 17.

It has to do with meter installation.

MS. WHISSELL:  We found it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  So in that exhibit, which is part of the application, it says:
"Under one of the non-discretionary projects, Greater Sudbury has budgeted $111,370,000 for meter installations."

I also note in response to Board Staff -- I am going to ask you to pull up one other thing.  There is a Board Staff interrogatory, number 35, that also relates to these same meter installations.


The premise here is that Greater Sudbury has indicated that it considers smart meters that failed due to burn-in or meters purchased to connect new customers as non-incremental capital expenditures and consequently form part of the utility's normal capital needs.

In a supplementary interrogatory, number 18, I am not sure that you need to pull it up, Greater Sudbury confirmed that this approach does not conform to the Board's guidelines on smart meter funding and cost recovery issued on October 22nd, 2008.

MR. McMILLAN:  Agreed.

MS. SEBALJ:  So my question is, is the utility still requesting the capital expenditure of $111,370?

MR. McMILLAN:  No.  I think a more appropriate amount in that particular column might be in the order of $50,000 or $60,000 for greater than 50 meeting installations.

MS. SEBALJ:  So greater than fifty, meaning that they're not --

MR. McMILLAN:  Not part of the smart meter program.

MS. SEBALJ:  No longer non-performing.  Does that mean then, is there any adjustment to the CAPEX as a result of that?

MR. McMILLAN:  It would come down by the difference between those two numbers, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So when you say $50,000 to $60,000, are you able to give us a more definitive number so that we can then incorporate that into the capital expenditure?

MR. McMILLAN:  I can undertake to provide you with some documentation later.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  If we can mark that as J1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE NEW NUMBER FOR BUDGET AND METER INSTALLATIONS AND ADJUSTED NUMBER FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AS A RESULT OF THAT

MS. SEBALJ:  Which is to provide the new number for budget and meter installations --

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, ma'am.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- and then an adjusted number for capital expenditures as a result of that.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, ma'am.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  My second question relates to the King Street West Nipissing project.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Again, I don't know that you have to pull it up, although you can, in response to Board Staff Supplemental Interrogatory No. 13, the utility indicated that West Nipissing has been deferred indefinitely.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am wondering whether, again, whether that amount has been removed from the capital expenditures.

MR. McMILLAN:  No, it hasn't.  And what I would ask is that that amount would be -- we would put a different project in to replace that amount, but I am not sure whether you are prepared to indulge that or not.

MS. SEBALJ:  Well, it's really not up to me, as it turns out.

[Laughter]


MR. McMILLAN:  I understand.  I am not sure it is up to me either.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think we're both right on that one.  All right.  So essentially what we're talking about here is a request to make an amendment to the application, effectively.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McMILLAN:  If I go back to some of the answers that I have given to Mr. Shepherd, I think that, you know, we would see there is other valuable projects we could spend that amount of money on, but I can't honestly see as I understand how this process works in its entirety, so we would like to request it but I am not sure that is feasible or possible at this time.

MS. SEBALJ:  I would have to -- we obviously would have to have tangible evidence with respect to what project, where it falls on the priority list, and a justification for it appearing at this late stage in the evidence and give parties an opportunity to cross-examine on it on the project in question.

I don't know if my friends have anything to say about this?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask the impact?  How many dollars are we talking about?

MR. McMILLAN:  It is my recollection it was $150,000 for the -- let me pull it up to know for sure.

 MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, given the -- assuming it is in that sort of range, I'm not sure that we need to come back for another hearing day in August to cross-examine on it, much as I might look forward to it, no.

MS. SPOEL:  That would go into my vacation in August so we hope we don't do that.

I think given the relatively small numbers involved, it is probably one of those things that can -- we can get the undertaking.

MS. NOWINA:  We can get the undertaking and present submissions on it.

MS. SPOEL:  I don't think we need more evidence on this item.

MR. McMILLAN:  I would undertake to do that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  So it is J1.9, which is to provide further information with respect to a new capital project to replace the King Street West Nipissing project.

MR. McMILLAN:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO PROVIDE FURTHER INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO A NEW CAPITAL PROJECT TO REPLACE THE KING STREET WEST NIPISSING PROJECT

MS. SEBALJ:  And my third line of questions had to do with the CIS system that Mr. Shepherd has asked you a number of questions with respect to.

Just to clarify, my understanding of the examination that just occurred, Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc will own a licence or the licence for the SAP software; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. will be in a contract with London Hydro to provide hardware infrastructure that will be owned by London Hydro?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the terms and conditions around this are contained in the contract which you have provided, I believe it was in response to an interrogatory.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  If I can find it.

It is entitled “sharing agreement.”  Is that correct?  I have it at appendix 10(n) in response to School Energy Coalition interrogatories.  It is called “Sharing Agreement,” and it is dated October 2nd, 2008 between Cambridge and North Dumfries Hydro Inc., Greater Sudbury Utilities Inc. and London Hydro Inc.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is the document.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is it my understanding then that Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. will be paying the full $2.1 million as a capital expenditure and there are no other affiliates under your application as it currently stands that will be paying any amount related to that SAP system?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think I will complete the rest in OM&A as well with respect to how those costs will be shared.

Those are all of my questions with respect to rate base.  Thanks.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I don't think the panel has any questions.

Mr. Sidlofsky, do you have any re-examination?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I may just have one or two questions.  If you can just indulge me for a moment, I just have to check a couple of things in my notes.

I think I can cut that down to basically one question, maybe with a couple of subparts.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Pawlowicz, you had an exchange with my friend, Mr. Shepherd, about the water billing service that the city is receiving.

I expect that you will be talking about that in the OM&A, on the OM&A panel, as well; is that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, I will.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In the meantime, though, I wonder if I could take you to Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 4, page 2 of 7.

That was Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 4, page 2 of 7.  Do you have that up, Mr. Pawlowicz?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As I said, I appreciate that you may be discussing this in the second panel, as well, but could I take you to line 13 of that page?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I note there that in the application, Sudbury Hydro notes that it is undertaking a review of transfer pricing methodologies and intra-company cost allocations once additional requested information and interpretations from the regulator are received.

I take it, then, that water billing service would be included in that transfer pricing study; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, that is absolutely correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  I'm sorry, Ms. Nowina has a question.
Questions by the Board:

MS. NOWINA:  I have one question about the customer information system.

Who is going to own the asset of the 2.1 -- that is costing $2.1 million, so the software licence, I assume?  Is that Sudbury Hydro?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hydro Inc. will own that, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Hydro Inc., which is the parent?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  Hydro Inc. is the electrical distribution utility.

MS. NOWINA:  The utility will actually own the asset?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  And it will be in rate base?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  The Panel has a couple of small matters to attend to, so perhaps we could break now for ten minutes or five?  We will take our break early and return in 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:45 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO INC. - PANEL 2


John Douglas Reeves, Previously sworn


Stanley Pawlowicz, Previously sworn


Brian Alan McMillan, Previously sworn


Nancy Whissell, Previously sworn

MS. SPOEL:  Before we start, I understand people have been enquiring about what time we might finish up today.  It is our intention to sit to about 4:30, if that suits people.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's fine with me.

MS. SPOEL:  All right, Mr. Sidlofsky, this is your second panel.  I believe all of the witnesses have already been sworn.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.

MS. SPOEL:  We can dispense with that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We do need to add one witness.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, you have an additional witness?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.

MS. SPOEL:  Would you come forward, please.

Jodie Koski; Sworn
Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Spoel, as you will appreciate, there really isn't room along the side so I have Ms. Koski near me but I won't be talking to her during cross.

For the rest of the panel, as the Presiding Member mentioned, you are still under oath.

Ms. Koski, you are now under oath.  I understand that you are a certified general accountant and the regulatory and budget officer for Sudbury Hydro; is that correct?

MS. KOSKI:  Yes, it is.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And as I asked the other panel members was the evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MS. KOSKI:  Yes, it was.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt it?

Sorry.  My question was whether you adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?

MS. KOSKI:  I do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I'm sorry, the interrogatory responses as well, do you adopt those as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. KOSKI: Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As with panel 1, I would like to ask just a few questions in this case about Sudbury Hydro's application as it relates to operating costs.

Mr. Pawlowicz, could you tell the Board a bit about Sudbury Hydro's operating costs for the 2009 test year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, thank you.

On Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 2, pages 1 and 2, we have identified our OM&A costs for 2006, both Board approved and actual, 2007 actual, 2008 bridge, and 2009 test years.

The net OM&A costs for the 2009 test year are forecast to be approximately $11.7 million.

This net amount excludes CDM costs, which are funded by a revenue offset.

That represents an increase of approximately $1.4 million over 2008.  Overall since 2004, the year on which the 2006 Board approved year was based, OM&A has increased by a total of just over $2.6 million.

Our departmental and corporate OM&A activities are described at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 1.  Overall, operations and maintenance expenses have increased by approximately $850,000 from 2008 to 2009.  The main components of that change are personnel changes amounting to about $400,000, a PCB enhanced program for about $150,000, $30,000 for station support services provided by an external contractor.

The residual components of the 850 is made up of inflationary cost increases to programs within the operating component and the wage increases that we experience relative to our Collective Agreement.

The next component is customer billing and collection expenses.  These have increased by approximately $260,000. The components are broken up between a maintenance and support agreement for about $170,000 and in legal costs associated with all of the contractual obligations that we have of dealing suppliers, the structuring of the CODAC group, et cetera.

Again, the labour costs are inflated by the collective agreement at about three percentage points and normal inflation for the residual.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately $280,000 and the primary components behind that are a $65,000 associated with our rates hearing, $50,000 for IFRS, the anticipated accounting changes that we will be undergoing in the upcoming year, and a $60,000 addition to the ERP maintenance contract that's in place.

We have summarized the accounts that exceed the variance analysis threshold at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 3, page 2 of the application.

Those are my comments.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Pawlowicz, thank you.  One of the other elements of Exhibit 4 is shared services.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.  Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. operates on a services model.  Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. has two employees in conservation and demand management and all other staff are employees of Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus Inc.

All labour, goods, services are procured on an actual cost basis, and there is no mark-up associated with those services.

Greater Sudbury Hydro pays Greater Sudbury Plus Inc. an annual fee of $42,000 for the services provided.

Costs of the shared services are allocated to various members of the corporate family by Hydro Plus.  The shared services and allocators are described at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 4, pages 2 through 4.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And finally, Mr. Pawlowicz, you discussed water billing in the context of rate base.  Do you have any other comments, any further comments at this time on water billing in the context of operating costs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, I do.

I would like the record to reflect that it should be noted that demands are considerably different between deregulated electricity billing and water billing.  Water billing is extremely simple:  The meter is read, the quantity is multiplied by a rate, as compared to electricity billing, requirements which include retailers, hourly pricing, RPP pricing, et cetera.

In addition, there are no credit risks associated with water billing.  As an attachment is made to the tax rolls.  Whereas the obligations are quite significant to a LDC.

Further to those comments, I think it is worth reiterating the response to VECC 34, to establish that the electricity customers gaining significant benefit from the billing services agreement as is.  To establish the amount of the benefit, which has been quantified at $429,677, the reader must assume that if the contract were terminated what the ramifications would be.

Under those circumstances, it has been determined that four staff persons would be eliminated at a cost reduction of $300,000.  Accordingly, the $429,677 contribution would be foregone in total and the utility would increase by an equivalent amount to absorb 100 percent of the costs of postage, stationery, collection, meter reading as all synergy would be lost.  The cost of the billing services department as submitted with the rate application is set at $2,515,000.  If the contribution is lost, then the billing services department for electricity would increase to $2,944,000.  This is clearly a disadvantage of the electricity ratepayer.

I would also like the Board's consideration relative to our indications that in the application, Sudbury Hydro will be undertaking a comprehensive transfer pricing analysis.  At Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 4, page 2 at line 13, as we previously addressed we advised Sudbury Hydro is undertaking a review of transfer pricing methodologies and intra-company cost allocation once additional requested information and interpretations from the regulator are received.

The transfer pricing study will need to consider any updates to the Affiliate Relationships Code that may result from the enactment of the Green Energy and Green Economy Acts.  We are respectfully requesting that the Board allow the existing the arrangements to stand pending the outcome of this study and the expiry of the binding services contract.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.  Ms. Spoel, those are my questions.  So the panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Mr. Buonaguro, I understand you are going first this time?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.

MR. McMILLAN:  Good afternoon.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to start with clarifying the OM&A number that we're talking about.  I believe I heard in the direct evidence that we just had that the operation, maintenance and administration number that you are claiming in this application is $11.7 million; did I get that --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  11.874.

MR. BUONAGURO:  11.874 million.  Okay.

So if I go to Exhibit 7, tab 1, schedule 1, which is one place where I think the number appears, this is the calculation of the revenue deficiency or surplus.

That would be operation, maintenance, administration under distribution costs, 11,874,566?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I am going to go to something that we've already been to today, and that is the budget that was presented to your board of directors at the beginning of the year, and this is at -- I think it is SEC interrogatory -- it is actually in the appendix number 9C, I believe.

I will pull it up for you.  It is labelled School Interrogatory No. 9C, appendix number 9C.  It is the in camera session minutes which we went through yesterday -- or, sorry, this morning.

I am looking at the second page.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am highlighting on the screen here the resolution with respect to the operation, maintenance, administration budget.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Here, in summary, it says that the board of directors approved the budget of $21,210,834?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am going to try and bridge the gap, based on what we have on the record to date, between this $21 million figure and what an equivalent number would be compared to the 11.845 that you're talking about in application, okay?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When I talk about the 11.845, I think we generally talk about it as 11.9.  So when I say 11.9, that is the number I'm talking about; okay?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To get to the equivalent number to match it with the $11.9 million, you start with the $21,210,834.  And this was in the tech conference -- Mr. Shepherd took you through a number of deductions from what's in this material to get to the equivalent number.

I am just going to pull up the table that he refers to in the tech conference just to show...

So this is in that same -- this is one of the pages in that same package of material that came with the shareholder -- sorry, the board of directors' meeting notes.  This is -- I don't know exactly what page it is, because I don't think it is numbered, but it is entitled "The Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. Operating, Maintenance and Administrative Summary For The Budget Year 2009".

So, basically, this is one of the documents that was given to the board of directors when they approved that $21 million figure; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  During the tech conference, Mr. Shepherd took you through this, and he surmised that if you deduct, on what I have highlighted here, items F, G, H, I and J from the $21 million, you get the equivalent OM&A budget that's in the application in terms of line items; is that correct?

If you recall from the tech conference, he comes to a number that becomes known as $10.5 million.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's how he gets there?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is he correct in terms of, if you want to compare what you gave to the board of directors with what is in the rate application in terms of line items --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- this is the adjustment you would make?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the 11.9 that's in the application is comparable to a figure of just under $10.5 million, which is in -- which is embedded in what was given to the board of directors?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I guess I should put -- I think if we go to the transcript, I can get you the exact number that Mr. Shepherd came to.

And it was -- this is the tech conference transcript at page 102.  He does the calculation of 10,474,643.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which we will call 10.5 for the purposes of discussion, I think.  Okay.

So then now following the tech conference, you wrote the letter which has now become Exhibit K1.2; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Where you attempt to reconcile the differences between this 11.9 figure that is in the application versus the 10.5 figure, which comes out of what was presented to the board of directors; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the explanation of that particular problem, if I can call it that, starts at the end of page 2 of that K1.2 and goes over to page 3?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I have a few questions about this explanation.

The first part - and I have highlighted it on the screen here - the third paragraph, under the heading "OM&A Budget Versus Rate Filing", you talk about the fact that:
"The rate application reflects 12 months of revenues and costs on an annualized basis..."

Underlined:
"... and essentially reflects May 1st through April 30th operations.  Our fiscal budget reflects operations from January 1st through to December 31st."

Now, you have explained some of this I think already this morning, to be fair.  I just want to confirm my understanding of this point.

What you're saying here is that when you apply to your board of directors for approval of a budget, you apply for it on a 12-month basis starting January 1st and ending December 31st?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you told your board, We need to spend $10.5 million in 2009 calendar year to operate the business.  That's what you were asking approval for, to spend that much money in OM&A?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  During the calendar year, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But from a rate perspective, you're saying, well, the 2009 rate year in your -- I think I could fairly call it on your interpretation.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The 2000 rate year is May 1st to April 30th, 2010, and your submission, I think, is that your operating expenses in that time frame, from an OM&A point of perspective, are $11.9 million?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that is your basic explanation for the difference between the two submissions?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we go over the page to page 3 of the letter -- and I am going to skip over the second paragraph and go to the third, so this is the paragraph that starts, "Our load profile is such..."

The third sentence says:
"A calculation of revenues for the first four months of the year at old rates versus new rates produces a revenue shortfall of $991,133."

So what I am understanding from that is what you're saying in that is from January 1st of this year, 2009, to April 30th of this year, 2009, you are under-collecting by $991,133 relative to -- and I guess the question is what?

Is it relative to the 10.5 million that you have asked from your board for 2009?

MS. WHISSELL:  It's relative to the revenue requirement that we had submitted in the rate application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying that because rates from January 1st, 2009 to April 30th, 2009 are too low, you need to recover that in your rate filing for 2009 rates starting April -- May 1st, 2009 to April 30th, 2010?


MS. WHISSELL:  Our revenue for the period January through April 30th is at existing rates.  So what we have attempted to demonstrate is that if our rates were applicable January 1st, as submitted, we would have an additional $991,000 of revenue.

And the rate application is only effective for May through April.  So that in a calendar year that is different from the rate year, there is this shortfall.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then you go on to say in the same paragraph, you talk about the sensitivity analysis about the timing of the approved rates.  And you have -- here you say, conservative assumption that rates would be effective July 1st, 2009.  That's presumably based on the fact that the time in which the -- your application was filed and you probably missed the May 1st effective date, 2009, or at least.  Sorry.  I think your position is you would miss the -- a rate order that would be in place by May 1st, 2009?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You say that that would mean -– well, actually, no, in this paragraph you actually say you believe the effective date may be May 1st 2009 which means you would lose two months of increases.

MS. WHISSELL:  For the purpose of submitting a working budget to our board of directors, we felt we had to be conservative and not necessarily overstate revenues and we were anticipating that we may not get a retroactive May 1st Board rate order.

So this is where the sensitivity comes into play, that we cannot anticipate that we necessarily have these revenues.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The thing is -- I am getting a little confused because we're really talking about two things, here, I think.  We're talking about how much money you need to spend in 2009.

And we're also talking about how much money you're going to collect in 2009, which I think you would agree are potentially two different things; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There's an association between the two.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You don't want them to be different, but the reality is, is that what you spend in 2009 is -- certainly what you told your board you would spend in 2009 is based on the calendar year.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What you collect in 2009 is actually in the calendar 2009 is a hybrid between your 2008 rates --

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- ostensibly, and your 2009 rates?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And because that disjunct, what you collect in 2009 may be very different than what you collect in 2009, the calendar year?  In fact it will be.

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If we come back to what you have to spend or what you told your board you have to spend in the 2009 calendar year, I haven't heard anything to suggest certainly when we talked about the capital side, when you're telling your Board what you have to spend in 2009, whether it is on the capital side or on the OM&A side which is the subject of this explanation, the figure is $10.5 million, the equivalent figure in the calendar year 2009; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that the additional -- the difference between what's in the application of $11.9 million and the $10.5 million that you told your board of directors about, is actually spending that's going to occur in January 1st, 2010 to April 30th, 2010?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Actually, the timing of that could be accelerated.  It is pending the outcome of these actions.

We are putting on for -- four personnel additions is incorporated within our plan.  We are deferring that until some particular point in time when the revenue stream is assured that we can support those expenditures.

So if the rate becomes effective tomorrow morning, we would go through the recruiting process and within a month we would have that personnel added.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But I understand that if you get the money you could spend it quicker --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It works the same way, it is a contract to an external third party.  If the money is coming in to meet that particular project, it is deemed it is a must do in this tribunal, immediately we would go out to a RFP, secure the appropriate parties to attend to that work.  So it will be done within the calendar year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I understand what you're saying.  You're saying if you get the money to spend, you can spend it.  You know -- you have ways to spend the money.  But when you apply to the board, to your board of directors, you were saying to the board of directors:  In the calendar year 2009 we have to spend X and X happens to be $10.5 million.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It is $1.4 million less.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  When you come to the Board, you put together your evidence on the basis of what you are going to spend in the rate year, the May 1st, 2009 to April 30th, 2009 period?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Now, I am going to ask you for two undertakings on this topic, which you gave to Mr. Shepherd on the capital side and I am basically asking for the same thing on the OM&A side.

Can you please provide I guess a report on your six month spending in your OM&A and your six month forecast for the rest of the year for 2009.

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  That will be J1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO PROVIDE A REPORT ON SIX-MONTH SPENDING IN OM&A AND SIX MONTH FORECAST FOR THE REST OF 2009

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the other thing he asked you for -- and I didn't go through it, but I think you know what I'm talking about.

In this, in the spreadsheets, and I think I showed you already a part of it, you have an example of the line-by-line item spending that make up the $10.5 million.  You will have equivalent figures in the application?

So -- sorry.  We start with -- the summary is you got 10.5 that was submitted to the board of directors and you have 11.9 submitted to the Board then you have line items that support those two figures.  In the capital side, Mr. Shepherd asked you for a side-by-side comparison of the variance between those two numbers.  I am asking for the same thing on the variance side.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We can deliver that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That will be marked J1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  TO PROVIDE variance data in form similar to j1.6

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am advised that the reference for doing that would be technical conference undertaking No. 4, or Exhibit No. 4.

Okay.  Now I am going to turn you to a slightly different topic.  This is from -- I am putting up on the screen an interrogatory response.  This is an interrogatory response to VECC IR No. 16.  I am going to highlight the actual table that flows out of that response.  The question had to do with benchmarking the company's historic OM&A costs.  And actually I want to make sure I am fair here.  I think there might be a...

The question was:  Compute the distribution OM&A costs per customer for the years 2007 to 2009.

And I am focussing on the OM&A cost per customer.  And what we have here is a trend that goes from 2006, $204.13 per customer; 2007, $215.75 per customer; 2008, which is $218.97 per customer; and then a forecast OM&A cost per customer of $252.07.  Is that what that represents?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, that does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, we asked you -- I think you can maybe take it subject to check, the increase in OM&A cost per customer for 2008 to 2009 is about 15 percent.  Subject to check?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  In part D we ask, asked you to discuss trends in OM&A per customer per kilowatt-hour of energy distributed 2005 to 2009.

You are saying here that costs are increasing based on collective agreement increases and general cost of living increases consistent with a no growth, low growth utility.

So I guess my question here is:  Are you suggesting, in this answer - and I think you may have talked this a little in your opening - but are you suggesting that a 15 percent increase in a cost per customer is consistent with collective agreement increases and general cost of living increases?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  There is an additional component to that answer.

MS. NOWINA:  Is your microphone on, sir?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: There are additional components to that answer.  It might not be as complete as it could have been or should have been.

Clearly the complexity of our business is increasing, as well, and that should have been reflected in those comments.  Brian, do you want to supplement that?

MR. McMILLAN:  I think that in D, there should have also been included the reality that we have asked for some programs, some OM&A programs, specifically to do with substations, the hiring of a substation electrician, and some maintenance work that we have not been doing in the past and that we should be doing, need to be doing on an ongoing basis, and that would be one of the incremental costs there.

MS. WHISSELL:  Under Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 3, we have also a variance analysis schedule that really highlights the differences, other than the general trend of only the cost of living and the collective agreement contract increases, and Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 3, pages 3 through 9 provides additional information as to why the increase is greater than just the cost of living and the collective agreement increases.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to summarize the -- or summarize and/or isolate the impact of the cost of living and collective agreement increases?  I think I heard some figures, 3 percent for collective agreement and other general cost of living expenses, but have they been separately quantified?

MS. WHISSELL:  We could attempt to undertake that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I will take that.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's J1.12, and just so that we're clear, this is with reference to VECC IR 16D, to attempt to isolate the impacts of the collective agreement increases and general cost of living increases from all other increases that impact the cost per customer of OM&A, 2007 over 2008?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12:  To attempt to isolate the impacts of the collective agreement increases and general cost of living increases from all other increases that impact the cost per customer of OM&A, 2007 over 2008 and 2008 versus 2009, with reference to VECC IR 16 A, C and D.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think reference would also be made to part C, which is the --

MS. WHISSELL:  Please clarify the 2007 --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, 2008 versus 2009.

MS. SEBALJ:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  With reference also to part A, which gives you the actual figures.

I would expect in that undertaking you would talk about these other projects as distinct from the cost of living increases.

So, for example, on a per customer basis, in pure dollar terms, you have about a $32 increase in the year per customer.  And I think you should be able to isolate how much of that $30 is attributable to inflation, cost of living, versus this large -- or extra incremental spending in OM&A, that kind of analysis.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just interrupt for a second?  This table that is in the answer to VECC Interrogatory No. 16 refers to kilowatt-hour per customer.  I assume that line should read cost per kilowatt-hour, because you have cost per customer, and then kilowatt hours, and then kilowatt-hour per customer.  Should that line read per --

MR. McMILLAN:  Cost per kilowatt hour.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I am going to take you to the water services area of my cross, which you have had some discussion of and some examination-in-chief on -- or, sorry, some evidence-in-chief on.  You did -- actually, in fairness to myself, you referred to our Interrogatory Response No. 34 a couple of times in response, so I thought maybe we should throw that out and have a chat about it.

So I am going to pull up VECC IR No. 34, part F, which is actually in the round 2 interrogatory responses.  I think it is the same one you have been referring to.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that March 30th?  What are the dates of the round 2 interrogatories?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me just take a look.  May 19th, 2009 responses.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's page 2 of the responses to VECC.

I am just waiting until I hear the shuffling of paper die down.

MS. SPOEL:  Almost there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So this interrogatory asks you to provide basically the 2009 cost of customer care with the new CIS, and then that cost has within it embedded everything you provided under the water services agreement, I believe; is that correct?

Put another way, you have a total customer care cost, and part of that includes what you are spending to provide water services, and then which is then charged out to the city?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am just going to go -- if I go down the table, just so I understand each of the columns -- I guess it is the rows.  Meter reading, $230,600, I believe that is a -- well, maybe you could tell me.  Is that a charge --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is basically the electricity distribution charge for meter reading services.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  What does that entail?  Does that entail an actual meter reader reading the meters?  That simple?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  All it is, it is the contractor, and they submit an invoice to us.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And cashiers is something --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Payment processing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me just -- maybe you can go through them yourself for me and you can tell me which ones are distribution, electricity distribution related, which ones are water meter related and which ones are both, and maybe have just a description of each of the headings, rather than me trying to lead you through it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Everything there is commingled, with the exception of meter reading.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So cashiers, for example, is commingled.  That is, people are paying both their water and their electricity in one place to one cashier?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Customer account, you only have one account that tracks both services?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Market services, maybe you can talk a little bit more about that.  What is that?

MS. WHISSELL:  That is -- that relates to retail settlement, and that is purely electric.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

And then overhead, I can guess, but is that an allocation?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is an allocation of the entire organization that's attributed to those services.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, depreciation I am going to guess is the depreciation amount related to the new CIS?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And maybe this is a rate base type question, but my understanding is that the $420,000 figure comes from an assumption that the full $2.1 million --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- for the new CIS goes into service January 1st, 2009; i.e., it is a full year impact?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, if it was a 50 percent rule impact, this number would be halved for 2009?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

So we had come down to a total of 2.9 million, and then you have city water billing, $729,677.

Can you break down that figure, because that gets added to the total?  So I am just wondering how that works.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's the straight contract as per the agreement, a flat fee adjusted for inflation over the number of years that it's been in existence, plus the directly attributable meter reading costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, you talk about the directly attributable meter reading costs.  I have a number in my notes here that there is a $133,000 direct water meter reading charge.  What does that entail?

MS. WHISSELL:  Our invoicing from our contractor is split out by electric and water, and they present us with an invoice for water and it is charge directly to a tracking account for water.  It does not hit electric.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me understand this.  What was the name of the contractor again?  I don't have it off the top of my head.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Olameter.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Olameter.  So Olameter sends -- let's presume you only have one meter, one customer.  They send a person out to that address.  That person reads the gas meter, also reads the -- the water meter?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I started in gas, so I'm sorry.  Reads the electric meter, reads the water meter.  Bills you for the electric meter.  Bills you for the water meter.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you explain the difference, then, between the meter reading costs on electric side of $230,000 versus the direct water meter reading costs of about $133,000?  What accounts for the difference?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: We took a contract that was entered into by the city at the time that we entered into the billing arrangements, an RFP was submitted to the city and it was just broken out that way.

So it is specifically the costs associated with that RFP that were transferred over with the personnel and any equipment, and that came over when we took over billing services.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I hesitate to go back in time, but this is around 2004?  Is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Late -- mid 2003 through 2004.

MS. WHISSELL:  March 2004, I believe.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Is the date the contract was signed.  But we were doing services long before that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You were doing both services before that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When did you take on contract from the -- that the city already had, I guess, with Olameter.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It was all taking place at the time that the transition board was in effect.

So the -- in effect, there was a new entity created the City of Greater Sudbury as opposed it the City of Sudbury.  All contracts, RFPs were refreshed at that particular time.  So there was a submission from Olameter, well, it was an open tender process, RFP, and they were the successful proponents.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now I can't help be curious so I am going to ask.  When the tender came out for that service and Olameter bid on it to the city, was it on the basis that they were only going to the house to read the water meter?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then, at the same time, did they have a separate contract with you for reading the electric meter, electricity meter?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They were our contractors and an RFP was issued at the same time as well for electricity billing services.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So they had two separate RFPs for two separate services.

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They were bid on as though they were separate services.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Potentially being done by two different companies, for example.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the city awarded a contract to Olameter for doing their water meter reading.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And around the same time, Olameter happened to be awarded a contractor to read your electricity meters at the same time?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Was it all on the basis they would be going to the one house to do both meters?  Or was it always contemplated at this stage that it would be potentially two trips by two different companies, and then lo and behold they got the windfall of being able to go to the house once?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  From memory, there were a number of prices that were requested.  It was a blended price, an individual price, you know, no commitments were made that we would be entering into this particular contract.

It was simply a RFP process at that time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it would have to be -- from what, from that, that suggests to me that for example the $133,000 charge from Olameter for the water billing services was on a stand-alone basis.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, it was.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At least from their perspective of going to the house to read the meter.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the same time that the $230,000 charge for electricity was a stand-alone charge.  It was submitted on the basis that that's all they were doing, going just for the electricity?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So on that -- for those charges, the meter reading charges, it sounds like there's been no savings built into the price for going to the house once and reading the meter once or reading both meters at the same time.  It sounds like there is no savings associated with that.

MS. NOWINA:  Panel, could I ask you a question.  Are there still two contracts with Olameter, one for water and one for electricity meter reading?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  There are two separate contractors.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  But as far as you know, they're sending one meter reader to each house and reading meters at the same time, so the contracts have not been renegotiated since these original contracts?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, they were not.  They were contract extension provisions.  Going back from memory and over a ten-year period, like, there were various permutations that were components of the RFP process.  And the joint aspect of it, the individual, there were pricing for each of those scenarios.

MS. NOWINA:  Sir, I am actually asking about what contracts are in place today that you are operating under, your relationship with Olameter.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That existing contract has been renewed.

MS. NOWINA:  There are two separate contracts?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  And you understand that Olameter is now visiting each household once and reading both meters at the same time, but you haven't renegotiated the contract on that basis?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am saying that in the original RFP, the pricing that was such that had they gone individually, let's say that a contract was awarded strictly for the electricity by Greater Sudbury hydro to Olameter.  There was a price structure that was associated with providing services on that basis.

There was a request for prices for Sudbury Hydro, assuming that there's a possibility that they would do water billing as well.  So there was like five or six different permutations that were possible.

When we entered into the contract, clearly we got the pricing that was associated with the lowest and that is reflected in these numbers.  And the alternative is, clearly, that they are doing exactly as you stipulated, that one person is going to one address and, you know, some changes in their operating procedures are that they are actually reading gas at the same time too.  But that is a contract between the gas company and us.

MS. NOWINA:  That's another --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  So I am assuming that they look at this from Olameter’s perspective and they give us the best price to get the work knowing that now I have this tri-party kind of an agreement in place and these prices reflect substantial savings from what we would have received had we went on a stand-alone basis, and that's based on our historic prices that I think Olameter won that contract from an alternate supplier at that time.  I think Levert Personnel Services were the hydro contractor in place, then we went out to RFP, and through this process they lost it.  Olameter was the successful party.

MS. SPOEL:  So you're saying that the prices that were quoted by Olameter originally, when you first entered into the contract, the price you ended up paying and the city ended up paying for the two contracts were based upon the fact that they were going to get both contracts?  That that was part of --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That was one of the alternatives, yes, that was a possibility very distinctly.

MS. NOWINA:  But not a possibility.  Which contract, what did you enter into in terms of the contract?  Was it under that understanding?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  That's the understanding with two separate sets of invoices.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MS. SPOEL:  But the price you're paying --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Is the lowest possible price.

MS. SPOEL:  If they get both?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  I understand not all of your -- not all of your electricity customers are water customers and vice versa; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.  There are 17,000 customers that are serviced for electricity needs by Hydro One, within our operating territory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think if you look on the table --

MS. SPOEL:  There's the same number of customers more or less 46,000 and change, but there's only 17 -- there's 17,000 that don't overlap, in fact?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to confirm.  In fairness, it did sound to me like you are making some assumptions about how the contract was entered into.

You are assuming that because you got the lowest price and that you are assuming that because one of the options discussed was the fact that the winning bidder would be doing two jobs for two different companies at the same time, that the savings are reflected in the contract.

Forgive me for not knowing this, are the original contracts or any of the bid documents on the record to show that is the case?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, they're not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps we could have an undertaking for you to provide the documents underpinning the agreements between the city and Olameter and between the company and Olameter to demonstrate the fact that they're going to -- that their price is at least -- at least their price is based on the assumption that they're doing two jobs for two different companies on one visit.

Then you could provide an explanation of how that happened at the time of the bid, because you're telling us that the same thing that happened in 2004 is the same -- it governs the relationship up to the present day?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you give that undertaking?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  On a best efforts basis.  Is that a qualification?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, to start with, you have the contracts, the existing contracts?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm, right.  I thought you were asking for the evaluation documents.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I am asking for them.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The RFP and --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am asking for them to make sure that the contracts you have reflect the fact that these services are being essentially shared.  You can take the undertaking to look, and then if you can't find it we can follow up.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Absolutely, without question.  I am just trying to think of where the answer is, and I am sure this was a presentation to the board of directors.  So at least I could get that.

MS. SEBALJ:  So can we mark them separately, then, because it seems clear that if we mark J1.13 as the contracts between the city and Olameter and Greater Sudbury Hydro and Olameter, those you can provide.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Because they exist.  And J1.14, being the bid documents or the RFP documents associated with those two contracts, and those will be provided on the caveat that you can find them.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.13:  To provide contracts between the city and Olameter and Greater Sudbury Hydro and Olameter.

MS. NOWINA:  Just a second.

[Board panel confer]

MS. SPOEL:  We have a little bit of a concern about the extent of that undertaking.  In terms of the RFP process, obviously there were other bids received and there certainly might be some confidentiality issues.

I am not sure, Mr. Buonaguro, if we need to go so far as to get the whole underpinning of it.  Would you be satisfied with sort of evidence that Mr. Pawlowicz referred to, the kind of presentation that was made to their board about what the prices were, or evidence that there was a pricing aspect of it that there would be a lower price if they got both contracts?

I take it that is what you're looking for?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can explain.

I'm concerned -- and the concern arose from the answers I was getting.  I'm concerned it may have been the case that because there's two separate contracts and they were awarded separately, and at least the possibility that the contracts were going to be on the basis that they would be making one trip to read one meter versus one trip to do two meters wasn't reflected in the pricing.

So what I am looking at is certainly with respect to Olameter, who actually got the contracts, what it is they base their pricing on.  What scenario were the prices obtained and the contracts based on?

So I think that would include the proposals from Olameter that relate to the contract they actually entered into, because if -- I think the contract -- I haven't seen the contract, so I don't know if the contracts speak for themselves.

It may be the case the contract with the city says, you know, because we're going to be -- because you're going to be doing the -- or as long as you are doing both companies' meter reading, this is the price, which would clearly show that the price was based on being able to do two sets of meter readings at one visit.

But if it is silent on that, we will need something further to show that the contracts they entered into reflect this economies of scale, I guess you would call it.

So does that mean including all of the bids that were in front of them?  No, I don't think so.  I think it may include the bids, if they have them, that Olameter made, because their presentation will say, Well, look, here is the contract we can give you if we're doing both companies at the same time, and that pricing presumably would then be reflected in the actual contracts that were entered into, or something close to it, if that helps.

I am not looking for every bid they got, for example.

MS. NOWINA:  So if that information was reflected in the contracts themselves, for example, there were different schedules of pricing depending on whether or not they were reading more than one meter at each premise, then that would give you the information you needed and you wouldn't need the bid documents.  If it doesn't, then you need some other information regarding how the pricing has been developed?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can accept the contracts may resolve the issue on their face.  In case they don't, I would like to have them be looking for something that does.  So I think I agree with you.

MS. NOWINA:  The other issue we might run up against, and I think we should indicate to the panel, is that if you wish to file them in confidence, because of Olameter's concerns, that might be something worth considering.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could comment, Madam Chair, Ms. Nowina.

I am going to be pursuing this issue, as well, but on a different point, and that is how it is allocated between the two.  If the bid documents are, We'll do both for X dollars, then that is different than, Our cost to do this one is lower than our cost to do this one.

So the bid documents may still be relevant.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just from the one company.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, that seems reasonable.  I think provided -- always with the caveat you will look for them, I think is what the undertaking was.  And perhaps the original RFP request, the request for proposals, might be salient on that point, as well.  Were people asked to provide different pricing arrangements depending on whether they did one or both, because I assume that would be a relevant consideration?

Perhaps you can see what is available.  I understand it's been a number of years.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to jump in, but I do expect at least several, if not all, of those documents will need to be filed in confidence.  I don't expect we would be redacting them, so I think the Board can likely expect that the documents, if they're found, would be filed in confidence in their entirety.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Yes, that's fine.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we probably have about three pages of transcript now describing this undertaking, and I just want to be clear that the utility will look for documents related to the original request for proposal and bids and provide whatever information they can with respect to the pricing that was offered and the pricing options that were offered for meter reading for both water and electricity.

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Sebalj, I am not sure we need all of the bids, just the Olameter bid, the winning bid.

MS. SEBALJ:  I wasn't sure if Mr. Shepherd was looking for more there.  No, just the Olameter bid?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I think the other bid -- while they might be very fascinating, I don't need...

MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  And also subject to them being filed in confidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.14:  To PROVIDE DOCUMENTS RELATED TO WINNING BIDS FOR WATER AND ELECTRIC METER PRICING.

MS. NOWINA:  And the current contracts; did you say that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's a separate undertaking.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's a separate undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Ms. Sebalj.  So what you just read back is J1.14 now; is that right?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Buonaguro, back to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That may be the longest undertaking I have ever received from somebody, and I haven't even got the answer yet.

Okay.  Now, I am going to -- I have a question.  I believe for 2008, the equivalent number -- staying with this table, we have a total figure of $3,642,204.

I found it interesting that, in terms of the costs, you added what you charged the city to get the total costs.  If I understand that correctly from what you have been saying, around $130,000 of that is -- well, maybe not.  Is the direct charges -- is that included in this 730, or no?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  The meter reading dollars are there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So even though it is charged directly to them, that's not really the case.  It flows through the company?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It flows through --

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  Then the other 400,000 or so --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Six hundred.

MR. BUONAGURO:  600,000 is what?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's the contract price.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the contract price.


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  And this is rounded off, you know, as a response.  It's not precise to the penny.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you mentioned when you're talking about, I think in your direct, you talked about if they stopped, if you stop providing the service, you would stop collecting the $729,677, but then there would be an offset -- there would be some offset because, one, you wouldn't be paying the 133,000 direct charge to Olameter which wouldn't pass through this number anymore; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  But I could expect my meter reading charges to increase.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  I am just going through it step by step.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You would stop collecting the 729 but would you stop paying the 130 or so and then you also said that there were two staff specifically --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Four staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Four staff that are specifically included there, which would account for another $200,000 or so reduction in the costs.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Leaving $400,000, I think you said 429?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Now, I think -- I am not going to pull it up, but I think the equivalent to the total of $2,912,527, that number, the equivalent 2008 number is $2,515,000 or so.  Does that sound right?  I got that from TCU number 4, technical conference Undertaking No. 4.  I can pull it up, if you like.

It is just hard to read this one.

 MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.  It is 2,515,000 is the 2009 test year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  There is a variance – sorry, there is an increase of $259,543.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe actually you can tell me.  How come I get a total of 2.9 million in the previous table and 2.5 million in 2008.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Depreciation is out of that number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So that 2.5 million I am showing here is -- there's no depreciation?  Sorry.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The 2,515,000 number there is no depreciation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because there's no new CIS.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  Depreciation is a separate line in this particular presentation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.  So what would the -- I can't find it that quickly.  Do you know what the -- to make it equivalent to the undertaking response, how much depreciation would you be adding on?  I guess it would be whatever old CIS costs you have?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That number would be?  I guess it is -- the 420 that is shown in the original response completely replaces whatever the old number was?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you for that.

Now, whatever that number is for CIS, I think maybe you talked about this with Mr. Shepherd, whatever that old number was, it's gone, and it's been replaced by a much higher number, presumably the $420,000?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That $420,000 doesn't affect the contract with the city at all, the city doesn't pay more?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Similarly, if you look at the other costs, the costs actually shared.  So I guess the cashier costs, the customer account costs, the market -- sorry, not the market services costs but overhead costs, those truly shared costs, if they go up, it doesn't affect the city pricing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  It is a fixed price contract, with an inflationary CPI adjustment on an annual basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And for that reason alone, from a regulatory perspective, you couldn't really call the pricing fully allocated costing, because it bears no relation to changes in the fully allocated costs.

There is no allocator to change the price?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So really in terms of regulatory compliance you are really relying on some sort of fair market value analysis, I think?  Or an exception?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  As I responded earlier, I equated the two and at the time that we entered into the contract and entered into a ten-year fixed price contract, with the escalator provision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Now, I think you anticipated some of what we're enquiring about today in your direct evidence.

You referred specifically to your evidence at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 4, 2 of 7, earlier.  I will pull it up on the screen, which talks about the fact that you’re undertaking a review transfer pricing, methodologies and intra-company cost allocations, once additional requested information and interpretations from the regulator are received?



MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think your counsel confirmed with you that that includes this situation?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, this suggests to me that your review is purely internal.  Is that correct?  When I say that, it means you haven't engaged a third party?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Our intentions are, when we do undertake the project, that it would be done by a third party.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Totally independent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to sort of brainstorm the possible outcomes.  Well, would this review include a market survey to determine whether or not this is a fair market value transaction?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I believe that, my interpretation of the requirements are that we, yes, we do start the process with trying to establish a market price.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then if that fails or it turns out -- Well, I guess if you can't determine a fair market value you're going to have to go on to fully allocated cost.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Fully allocated costs basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then -- and in fairness, I want to give you the opportunity to chat about this, because I think it is a big point for you on this topic.  Let's assume that -- in looking back at the, if you look back at the original little table that I put in, we have the customers here.  The utility customers that you serve and the water customers you serve; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They're roughly equal, it's about 46,000, 46,500.

I guess the worst case scenario for you would be if the fully allocated costing came out and it is near 50 percent allocated to the city services, you would be very much undercharging the affiliate.  Right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Were those circumstances proven out.  I think in my preamble, I did mention that water billing is extremely simple as compared to electricity billing.

So I would not anticipate that to be a possible outcome.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I do emphasize the fact that a third party would be undertaking this and my biases wouldn't show but from the practicality, um, you know, water billing is extremely simple.  As I mentioned earlier, you take a meter read and you multiply it times the rate.  Stick it into an envelope and out it goes.

MS. SPOEL:  Could I trouble you.  Does the water billing get done on the same cycle as electricity billing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  It is a joint invoice.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, so they both go on the same invoice.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Same invoice, same envelope, same stamp.  Those are the synergies that we are getting a $429,000 contribution towards.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, getting how much of a contribution?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  $429,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I thought I heard something else.  That's okay.

Now, I was, I guess you have a similar problem in terms of OEB policy with respect to allocations, when it comes, generally to the different companies, the different affiliates; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  That's why we did those undertakings.  As in the previous submission, I did mention the fact that we have started to split.  So in essence, we are operating with two services company.  One service company attending to the needs of the competitive affiliates, and the Hydro Plus company services primarily the wires company, as such.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But as it stands right now, and I think maybe I can shortcut this by asking you to confirm two things.  One, I think you can confirm that as of right now, the information that's before the Board with respect to the allocation of costs as between the affiliates doesn't meet the requirements of the Affiliate Relationship Code.  And two, maybe it would be easier to answer that affirmatively if I say, and two, but you are working on it as you acknowledge in your evidence.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I believe that to the best efforts, at the time that the allocation factors were developed, that we met all of the requirements.

They need refreshing.  That process took place almost ten years ago now, and it has not been refreshed.  So an independent third party has to take a look at it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it may be the case that your allocations are okay, but in terms of the information that's before the Board, to say that that is true, that's where I think you are lacking.  You would have to --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, I agree with that.  We need that third party report here to confirm what it is that we were doing.  That work was handled internally and has not been refreshed since then.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think also you don't want to have to spend too much money on it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, that is an issue.  That is a very big issue, because we've gotten some pricing on the undertaking of such a project, and they are extremely substantial.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

I would like to ask you some questions about your employee complement.  I will start with something you said earlier today, I think, with respect -- during Mr. Shepherd's cross.

You mentioned that at year end 2009 the complement is supposed to be 99 employees?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Is that what I said?  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I raise that specifically because I don't see that in the evidence, that conclusion.  Maybe we can go through that quickly.

If I can start with a table from the evidence, this is Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 6, 2 of 4.

I am looking at table 3.  It is entitled "Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc.'s Employed Complement and Compensation", and just on the first box, it says "Number of Employees, FTEs", and then if you skip down to "Total", it starts at 93 in 2006; 2007, 95; 2008, 100; and 2009, 103.

What I am wondering is -- I guess there is a few possibilities.  One, this table might be representing something different than what you are talking about when you say 99; two, 103 might be revised to a new number, or there maybe some other explanation.

Can you reconcile about what you said about 99, year end 2009, to what this table says?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Table 3 reflects a complement of 103 staff, and it has full-time equivalents.  They're casual employees.  They're there.  They're not there.  They're on a relief-type basis.  So the presentations are not consistent between one another.

My 99 employees are actual, like, hard count bodies that are actually employees, whereas casual staff, we don't consider them that way in the presentation that I made.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me just puzzle that through.

So what you're saying is there is 99 -- is it on a head count basis, full-time employees, 99 full-time people?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On an FTE basis, there is an additional, I guess, four FTE -- four FTE equivalents?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Where would they -- in this chart, where would those four be?  I am assuming, for example, it is not in the executive?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Definitely not, but it could be anywhere throughout the operations.

MR. REEVES:  It is all union employees.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Union staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In the 85, there is five --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Four.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, now you got me going.  There is four FTE equivalents, which could be ten people if they're half a year, something like that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

We asked about this in -- we asked about employee complement or additional FTEs in VECC IR number 18, which I will pull up.

The answer -- we asked about the specifics of the four positions that you are adding.  Sorry, maybe I can go back.

The table I just showed you showed an FTE complement of 100 in 2008 and an FTE complement of 103 in 2009?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, hmm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then you talk here about adding four people.  So I guess what you are adding here is four people to the head count?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But because -- I guess the second part of the question here is about when they're being hired.  You've got power line electrician E being hired in December, and power line electrician E being hired in December, the two of them being in for one month of the year.  They only count as one-twelfth of an FTE each?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They will be permanent employees, though.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, for head count purposes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But the distinction seemed important so...

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe in our budget they're only in there for one-twelfth of the year, and we did count them as at December 31st, 2009 full head count.  And we could have counted them as perhaps one-twelfth, but we didn't portray it that way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Then another cite.  This is Exhibit 6 -- oh, no.  That's the wrong one.

At tab 1 -- sorry, Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, page 32, table 18.  So this is...

MS. WHISSELL:  Sorry, I can't hear you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to find it myself here.  Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, page 32.

What I have here is something -- figure 18 is called "Projected Six-Year Staffing Needs".

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Sorry, I don't have that on the screen.  I have it excerpted in my notes, but I don't have it ready.

MS. NOWINA:  Is it page 23?  You said 32.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I said page 32.  Did I have the right -- page 32.

MR. McMILLAN:  32 of 35.  It's in the capital asset management plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  Appendix A.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's in the capital asset management plan. Which is hard to flip through in the PDF, which is why I am having trouble getting it up on the screen.

It is actually a fairly simple question so maybe I can ask it.

This one, this table talks about adding four people and it talks about adding a project coordinator.  Two line technician  apprentices and a substation electrician, which I don't think matches, at least in title, what was shown in the interrogatory response.

In the interrogatory response, you have two power line electricians, a substation electrician, and system operator.  Can you reconcile that?  Are they the same four hires just called different things?

MR. McMILLAN:  No.  The project coordinator would be an anticipated retirement replacement.  So it wasn't responded to. It is like a one for one.  So someone is leaving.  We anticipate there may be someone -- pardon me.  Pardon me.  That's not true.

All right.  We've carried the distribution engineer in our budget for a number of years and we hired a young man a couple of years ago.  We hired him into the project coordinator position, and this past year we opened the engineering position.  This was to give him a chance to get to learn the business at the technician level, how to design lines that sort of thing. We opened the position of distribution engineer for him, essentially, and he took it in 2008.  That created a vacancy in our project coordinator, an existing vacancy which is in the budget, has been in the budget for years, okay.

So that position will be filled in 2009.  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  It isn't a new position.  It isn't an addition.

The answer, in VECC -- help me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  It is VECC number 18.

MR. McMILLAN:  Eighteen, where you had that chart up with the four different positions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Correct.

MR. McMILLAN:  Those are all additions.  The reason you don't see the substation operator on this list is that that position is proposed to be added to, to operate the smart meter system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. McMILLAN:  Therefore those costs are in the smart meter adder not in here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to ask you about that but I think you confirmed it.  So that costs, going back to VECC 18 the costs of $89,893.65 will be captured in the smart meter --

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO: -- deferral account and paid for by the smart meter adder?

MR. McMILLAN:  There is a spreadsheet to calculate the adder.  It is in there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, you mentioned attrition.  I guess you mentioned people retiring or quitting and then -- but I don't think there is that kind of information here.  Is it assumed that the underlying complement is staying the same and that the additions are always -- you are only explaining the additions on top of the base employee complement, I think.

You are assuming that because of attrition your base complement is never going down; is that correct?

MR. McMILLAN:  Certainly from the operations and line side there is an element of that that is true.

Now I had an interrogatory and responded to, and I think it was Schools and we created a large spreadsheet with a lot of positions and who was coming in.  Let me find that.

MR. SHEPHERD: Appendix 9(e).  No.  Actually, it is SEC 99(e)(7), pages 25 to 26.

MR. BUONAGURO:  99(e)(7)?

MR. SHEPHERD: Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  Page 25 of the response to SEC.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. WHISSELL:  Does that help?

MR. McMILLAN:  In the --

MS. WHISSELL:  It is March 19th.

MR. McMILLAN:  March 19th.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps you can explain how I should read the chart.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.  I went through this in the technical conference, and for some reason it doesn't show up on your copy there, I suppose because the copy in here doesn't.  But there is a yellow highlighted, actually a section starting at power line electricians, SF.  In there I talk about what we're doing, in terms of succession planning with the power line electrician inexperienced PLE apprentice, pre hire and co-op student.

I could walk you through that again, but the text of that or the explanation of that is completely in the record in the technical conference.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will leave it then.  Thank you.

MR. McMILLAN:  But we are talking additions that don't eventually replace retirees , in terms of the substation electrician that is on the list and the substation operator which is going to smart meters but nonetheless it is an addition.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not just new hires but new positions?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  As opposed to new hires?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

For this panel, I have one area of questioning left and it -- I think this is for this panel, it’s bill impacts.  Could I address that to this panel or should I address it to the load forecasting panel?  Or sorry, I call it the load forecasting panel because I have some load forecasting questions for panel 3.

I can leave it till panel 3.  I don't think there is anybody that is not on panel 3; right?

MR. REEVES:  There is one individual.  We have another individual for panel 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well I am in your hands.  It has to do with the manner in which you are dealing with the bill impacts and the fixed variable split.  Would that be rate design?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to jump in, but I think that is rate design so that would be panel 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It was under the rubric of bill impacts so I wasn't sure if I should go there.  Thank you.  I will leave it for them.   Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, how long are you likely going to need with this panel?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am certainly not going to finish today.  I could -- I probably have an hour and a half or two hours.  I could profitably use the ten minutes today if you want or if not I could start afresh in the morning.  Whichever you prefer.

MS. SPOEL:  None of us wants to be here any longer tomorrow than we have to, so why don't we use your ten minutes now, then there will be one less thing for tomorrow morning.

MR. SHEPHERD: Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD: Let me just follow up on the water billing question.

You talked, Mr. Pawlowicz, about the fact that this is something you are working on; right?  It is an action item?  The transfer pricing issue; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD: So I am going to ask you to turn up SEC interrogatory, appendix 16, which is right near the end of the -- this may be 20 or 30 pages from the end of the SEC IR appendices.  Appendix 16.  It is a letter from Mr. Hewson.

Do you have that?

MS. WHISSELL:  Bear with us.

MR. SHEPHERD: Letter dated July 16th, 2006 addressed to Mr. Peter Ruby, who I assume is your counsel or was your counsel, and signed by Brian Hewson, who was chief compliance officer.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD: Does the Board panel have it?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD: So -- now the letter from Mr. Ruby to Mr. Hewson is not in the record; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ: I don't believe that --

MR. REEVES:  I don't think it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's see if we need it.  I don't think we need it, but let's see if we do, first.  I wonder if you could turn to page 6 of this letter from Mr. Hewson.  This is in 2006, right, this is a little more than three years ago you got this letter.

You had proposed to leave your transfer pricing as is; right?  I am looking at page 6 under the heading "transfer pricing.”  Is that right?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD: Mr. Hewson's response was delicate.  He said, "I do not find this position acceptable."

So I guess my question is:  What action have you taken since then to change this situation in those three years?

MR. REEVES:  With respect to the transfer pricing?

MR. SHEPHERD: Yes.

MR. REEVES:  Well, you know, in my recollection of exactly what happened is around this or just prior to this time, the OEB formed a compliance department with Mr. Hewson as the chief compliance officer, and he was one of the -- or we were one of the first utilities that he dealt with, and he found a lot of -- had a lot of issues with things that we were doing, like our website and our actual structure.

We made those changes.  If you check our website now, our wiresco website is strictly wiresco.  You won't find any water heaters advertised there.

So we did make a lot of the changes that were required.  When it came to the issue of transfer pricing, what happened was a number of utilities had questions about the Affiliate Relationships Code.  We worked through our association, the EDA, and the Code itself came under review.

It was under review, and, again, I am going by memory, but I think that the Affiliate Relationships Code, the revised one, came into effect or into force somewhere in August of last year.  I think it was published in May.  There was about a three-month thing, and then it came into force in August.

During that period of time -- because knowing that we were on the list, you might say, because we had been in discussions with Mr. Hewson, Brian and I, and our lawyer had been down to talk with him, I contacted Mr. Ruby again and we -- through Mr. Ruby, we put some questions of interpretation to Mr. Hewson, interpretations around shared employees, around confidentiality and confidential information, and so on.

And after a period of time, we didn't get any response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so help me out here.  If you look at page 7, the Board says to you:
"Therefore, I require GS Hydro to conduct a market review of services purchased from its affiliates and to report on the results of the review by August 28th, 2006."

Now you didn't do that; right?

MR. REEVES:  No, we didn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you presumably got a letter from Mr. Hewson or the Board saying you don't have to?

MR. REEVES:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you had any correspondence with the Board, or did you just ignore this letter?

MR. REEVES:  We certainly didn't ignore the letter.  As I said earlier, we made many changes, with this letter and with our discussions with Mr. Hewson.

We did not proceed with the transfer pricing, because we did not know what the outcome of the revisions to the Affiliate Relationships Code would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those revisions didn't change the transfer pricing rules, did they?

MR. REEVES:  Actually, I think they did change them some, because they changed them in the sense that if you don't have a fair market price, then you go to a fully-allocated costing model versus a -- what we had talked about that was in the earlier Affiliate Relationships Code.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which was, what?

MR. REEVES:  Well, let's look that up.  That was in Stan's letter to the -- his last letter, June 12th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can help you there, actually.  If you look at page 6 to Mr. Hewson's letter, he says - and this is in 2006, so presumably this is not after those changes.

MR. REEVES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  "If cost-based pricing is used, I
expect GS Hydro will be able to demonstrate that the price paid to its affiliates reflects the affiliate's fully allocated cost of producing the service."

Right?  So I assume that you agree that there was no change in that rule, the cost-based pricing rule, and that in fact that's been same rule since 2004 when you first set this up; right?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, isn't it true that the questions you asked of interpretation, none of them were about transfer pricing, are they?

MR. REEVES:  No, they aren't.  But they are about:  How would we structure to do away with transfer pricing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me to understand.  Three years ago, the Board tells you, Fix your transfer pricing.  You have done nothing, and the only reason you have done nothing is because you have some questions on other things.

But the transfer pricing is still the same problem?

MR. REEVES:  No, they're all related, because, you see, if you wanted to, for example, do street lighting -- if you moved your linemen into wiresco and you wanted to do street lighting, you can't do it.

So, you know, the issue of transfer pricing goes away, of course, if you move your employees from the affiliate into the wiresco.

We have looked at that option.  That is what we were looking at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course it doesn't solve your water billing problem, does it?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, it can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that?

MR. REEVES:  It's one of the options that we've considered, as a matter of fact, you know, and one of the options that we can consider around water billing is move the billing people back into wiresco, leave the four people in the services company with the old billing system to do water billing.

What -- I don't want to go there, because you lose the efficiencies.  You lose the savings.  I mean, we thought we were doing a good thing when we combined the two with the one invoice, the one letter, one stamp, one envelope and so on.

So we wouldn't like to do that, but would it solve some of the transfer pricing issues?  It sure would, because, you see, it's fine to talk about fair market value, and that would say, well, I guess that if Olameter could do the billing and customer service for less money, let's say they could do it for 15 percent less, you would say, Well, okay, contract that work out to Olameter.

That's not an option for us, unfortunately.  It's not an option because, as we attempted to point out to Mr. Hewson, we have collective agreements that we have to live up to.

So our option, instead, would be transfer the employees back into wiresco, forget the water billing, and transfer pricing isn't an issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a new collective agreement since 2006?

MR. REEVES:  We have had a new collective agreement in --

MS. WHISSELL:  April 1st, 2008.

MR. REEVES:  2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the collective agreement excuse doesn't work anymore, right, because you could have changed it then and had a new one?

[Laughter]


MR. REEVES:  We have tried to make -- I shouldn't laugh.  We have tried to make substantial changes to our collective agreement.  We did in 2004.  And what the issue was was benefits for life, because our current employees, prior to 2004, when they retire they get benefits for life.

This is, when you compare it to other utilities, kind of an overgenerous thing, and so we proceeded to say, Well, what we want to do is we want to -- benefits to age 65 only for new hires.

We thought that would fly.  We had an 18-week strike, and I can tell you that this issue of laying off -- I mean, when we got into the services model, the union said, Hey, we're not stupid.  You're going to put employees into a services company, and then you are going to contract out the work in the wires company and lay off your unionized work force.

So of course they fought hard to put a clause in the collective agreement that says you can't do that.

So, you see, our solution to transfer pricing is more difficult than you make it out to be, and there's more solutions, and one of the solutions, of course, is move people back into wiresco.

MR. SHEPHERD: I am going to ask you to -- then I will finish with this subject for tonight, but I am going to ask you to give me two undertakings.


The first undertaking is to provide the letter that Mr. Hewson is responding to, the one from Mr. Ruby, because that sets out your position as to what you plan to do and what you feel you should be allowed to do, I believe.  That's what he is responding to; right?

So that's my first request is that you provide us with that letter.

MR. REEVES:  That is since August 2008, this discussion?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This letter dated April 24th, 2006 from Mr. Ruby, to Mr. Hewson.

MR. REEVES:  Certainly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That Mr. Hewson is responding to.  What I am looking for, Madam Chair, is I am looking for the description of what they're planning to do on transfer pricing, which is in there because Mr. Hewson is responding to it.

MS. SPOEL:  Right, I understand that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just mark that?

MR. SHEPHERD: Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it is letter of April 24th, 2006 from Peter Ruby to Brian Hewson in his capacity as chief compliance officer, and this is the letter to which Brian Hewson responds on July 13th I believe it is.

MR. SHEPHERD: That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  2006.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.15:  TO PROVIDE LETTER OF APRIL 24TH, 2006 FROM PETER RUBY TO BRIAN HEWSON IN HIS CAPACITY AS CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER TO WHICH BRIAN HEWSON RESPONDS ON JULY 13TH

MS. SEBALJ:  It is J1.15.

MR. SHEPHERD: The second undertaking, I wonder if you could provide is a summary of what actions you have taken to bring yourself into compliance with the Affiliates Relationship Code since Mr. Hewson's letter on the transfer pricing issue.

MR. REEVES:  Well, I have already explained why we -- specifically to do with transfer pricing, we haven't made any changes and I believe I have explained why.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have taken no action on transfer pricing?

MR. REEVES:  With respect to transfer pricing, what we've done is discuss alternatives that would allow us to stay in compliance with our collective agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we don't have an undertaking then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  That is a good time to break, if that is convenient for the Board.

MS. SPOEL:  We will reconvene at 9:30 tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:35 p.m.
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